

LUND UNIVERSITY

Oncogenic Pathways and Molecular Prognostics in Neuroblastoma

von Stedingk, Kristoffer

2013

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): von Stedingk, K. (2013). Oncogenić Pathways and Molecular Prognostics in Neuroblastoma. Department of Laboratory Medicine, Lund University.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00 Department of Laboratory Medicine Malmö, Translational Cancer Research, Lund University, Sweden

Oncogenic Pathways and Molecular Prognostics in Neuroblastoma

Kristoffer von Stedingk



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

By due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Department of Laboratory Medicine Malmö, Translational Cancer Research, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Building 302 Lecture hall, Medicon Village, Lund. Thursday 10th of October, 2013, at 13:00.

Faculty opponent

Associate Professor John Inge Johnsen, Ph.D. Childhood Cancer Research Unit Karolinska Institutet 171 76, Stockholm Sweden

Organization	Document name: DOCTORAL DISSERTATION
LUND UNIVERSITY	
	Date of issue: 10 th of October, 2013
Author(s): Kristoffer von Stedingk	Sponsoring organization
THI I HILO I BI IMI-I	Description in Neural I and a second

Title and subtitle: Oncogenic Pathways and Molecular Prognostics in Neuroblastoma

Abstract

Neuroblastoma is an embryonal malignancy that accounts for 15% of all cancer related deaths amongst children. Although the overall survival of patients has been improving over the last decades, the high-risk neuroblastoma patients have a survival rate of <50%.

Using gene expression microarrays we identify a group of proteins (snoRNPs) whose expression correlates with poor prognosis. We futher show that the snoRNPs are involved in regulation of telomerase activity in neuroblastoma cells. Upon snoRNP knockdown there is an observed increase in anaphase bridge fromation, indicitive of elevated genetic instability. Examination of genes associated with good prognosis revealed genes involved in growth cone formation. Combination of the expression of growth cone associated genes with the snoRNPs resulted in a 4-gene prognostic signature. Calculating the ratio (R-score) between the expression of the good and bad prognostic genes removed the need for housekeeper normalization, and provided a means of individual patient analysis. Application of a fixed-value R-score to 3 independent cohorts using standard qPCR revealed its functionality on an individual patient basis, as well as identified a subgroup of ulta-high risk patients who could potentially benefit from new treatment modalities.

Amongst high-risk neuroblastomas is a subgroup of patients harbouring *MYCN*-amplification. Here we show that *MCYN*-amplified tumours have elevated expression of the miR-17-92 cluster of miRNAs. High-throughput proteomic analysis of miR-17-92 overexpressing cells revealed enrichemnt of the TGF- β pathway. Further analyses showed miR-17-92 targeted inhibition of the TGF- β pathway at multiple levels, resulting in increased tumourigenic capacity of the neuroblastoma cells.

Using primarily breast cancer cells, we identified a hypoxia driven induction of the Notch-ligand *JAG2*. Deminished expression of *JAG2* in hypoxic tumour cells resulted in a reduced capacity of neighbouring endothelial cells to form tubes. Evaluation of these results in neuroblastoma revealed a similar pattern of Notch-ligand dependent crosstalk between tumour and endothelial cells, however in this case with via *DLL1*.

Here we have investigated, with a focus on high-risk patients, key signalling patways that are involved in the maintenance and progression of the disease. In addition, we describe a novel prognostic signature that has clinical implications for specifically high-risk patients.

Key words: Neuroblastoma, Prognostics, Telomerase, snoRN	P, miR-17-92, TGF-β, Not	ch, Hypoxia, Angiogenesis
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)		х.
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language: English
		5
ISSN and key title		ISBN
1652-8220		978-91-87449-82-6
Recipient's notes	Number of pages: 162	Price
	Security classification	
17	æ	
Signature	Date	2013-09-04

Oncogenic Pathways and Molecular Prognostics in Neuroblastoma

by

Kristoffer von Stedingk



Copyright © Kristoffer von Stedingk

Faculty of Medicine, Translational Cancer Research, Lund University, Sweden.

ISBN 978-91-87449-82-6 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2013



"The weaknesses include the two investigators" -Reviewer 2

Table of Contents

List of Papers	8
List of Abbreviations	10
Background	13
Brief Introduction to Cancer	13
Development of the sympathetic nervous system	14
Part I – The Disease	17
Neuroblastoma	17
What is Neuroblastoma?	17
Genetics	18
Staging and Prognostics	20
Therapy	21
Part II – Molecular Pathways and Processes	25
Нурохіа	25
What is hypoxia?	25
HIFs and the hypoxic response	26
Hypoxia, cancer and aggressiveness	28
Hypoxia and neuroblastoma	29
Notch	30
Overview of Notch signalling	30
Notch and cancer	32
Notch signalling in SNS and neuroblastoma	33
TGF-β	34
Overview of TGF-β	34
TGF-β and cancer	35
TGF-β in neuroblastoma	36
Angiogenesis	37
What is angiogenesis?	37
Hypoxia, HIFS and angiogenesis	38
Notch and angiogenesis	38
HIF-Notch interplay and potential effects on angiogenesis	40
Anti-angiogenic therapy	40

Part III – Non-coding RNAs	43
Brief description	43
microRNAs	44
miRNA biogenesis and function	44
miRNAs in cancer	46
snoRNAs	47
snoRNA biogenesis and function	47
snoRNAs in cancer	49
Telomerase complex	49
Telomeres and neuroblastoma	51
Part IV – Current Investigations	53
Papers I & II: Biology behind prognostic signatures in neuroblastoma	53
Paper III: miRNA contribution to invasiveness of neuroblastoma	57
Paper IV: Tumour cell contribution to the angiogenic process	59
Popular Science Summary	64
Acknowledgements	66
References	68

List of Papers

I SnoRNPs regulate telomerase activity in neuroblastoma and are associated with poor prognosis.

von Stedingk K, Koster J, Piqueras M, Noguera R, Navarro S, Påhlman S, Versteeg R, Ora I, Gisselsson D, Lindgren D, Axelson H

Transl Oncol. 2013 Aug 1;6(4):447-57.

II Individual patient risk stratification of high-risk neuroblastomas using a fourgene ratio score.

von Stedingk K, de Preter K, Vandesompele J, Noguera R, Ora I, Koster J, Versteeg R, Påhlman S, Lindgren D, Axelson H

Manuscript.

III The miR-17-92 microRNA cluster regulates multiple components of the TGF-β pathway in neuroblastoma.

Mestdagh P, Boström AK, Impens F, Fredlund E, Van Peer G, De Antonellis P, **von Stedingk K**, Ghesquière B, Schulte S, Dews M, Thomas-Tikhonenko A, Schulte JH, Zollo M, Schramm A, Gevaert K, Axelson H, Speleman F, Vandesompele J.

Mol Cell. 2010 Dec 10;40(5):762-73.

IV JAG2 induction in hypoxic tumor cells alters Notch signaling and enhances endothelial cell tube formation.

Pietras A*, von Stedingk K*, Lindgren D, Påhlman S, Axelson H.

Mol Cancer Res. 2011 May;9(5):626-36.

*These authors contributed equally to this work.

Reprints were made with permission from the publishers.

- © 2013 Neoplasia Press Inc. (Paper I)
- © 2010 Elsevier Inc. (Paper III)
- © 2011 American Association for Cancer Research (Paper IV)

Papers not included in this thesis

Nuclear localization of γ -tubulin affects E2F transcriptional activity and S-phase progression.

Höög G, Zarrizi R, von Stedingk K, Jonsson K, Alvarado-Kristensson M.

FASEB J. 2011 Nov;25(11):3815-27.

Tumors with nonfunctional retinoblastoma protein are killed by reduced γ -tubulin levels.

Ehlén Å, Rosselló CA, von Stedingk K, Höög G, Nilsson E, Pettersson HM, Jirström K, Alvarado-Kristensson M.

J Biol Chem. 2012 May 18;287(21):17241-7.

List of Abbreviations

ABC	ATP-binding cassette
ADAM	ADAM metallopeptidase
AKT	v-akt murine thymomo viral oncogene homolog 1
ALK	Anaplastic lymphoma kinase
ALT	Alternative lengthening of telomeres
ARNT	Aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear
ASCL1	Achaete-scute complex homolog 1
ATRX	Alpha thalassemia/mental retardation syndrome X-linked
BCL2	B-cell CLL/lymphoma 2
BCL6	B-cell CLL/lymphoma 6
bHLH	Basic helix-loop-helix
BIM	BCL2-like 11
BMP	Bone morphogenetic protein
ccRCC	Clear cell renal cell carcinoma
CD133	Prominin 1
CD31	platelet/endothelial cell adhesion molecule 1
CDKN1A	Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1A (p21, Cip1)
ceRNA	Competitive endogenous RNA
CLL	Chronic lyphocytic leukemia
CNS	Central nervous system
CSL	Recomination signal binding protein for immunoglobulin kappa J region
DBH	Dopamine b-hydroxylase
DICER1	Dicer 1, ribonuclease type III
DKC1	dyskeratosis congenita 1, dyskerin
DLK	Delta homolog-like-1
DLL	Delta-like
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
Drosha	drosha, ribonuclease type III

E-cadherin	Cadherin 1, type 1, E-cadherin
ECM	(epithelial) Extra-cellular matrix
EFS	Event free survival
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EMT	Epithelial to mesenchymal transition
FIH	Factor inhibiting HIF
GAP43	Growth associated rotein 43
GAR1	GAR1 ribonucleoprotein
GAS5	Growth arrest-specific 5 (non-protein coding)
GLUT1	Solute carrier family 2 (facilitated glucose trasnporter), member 1
GLUT3	Solute carrier family 2 (facilitated glucose trasnporter), member 3
GSI	Gamma-secretase inhibitor
HAND2	Heart and neural crest derivatives expressed 2
HES	Hairy and enhancer of split
HEY	hairy/enhancer-of-split related with YRPW motif 1
HIF	Hypoxia-inducible factor
HRE	Hypoxia-response element
ICN	Intracellular notch domain
ID	Inhibitor of differentiation
INRGSS	International neuroblastoma risk group staging system
INSS	International neuroblastoma staging system
JAG	Jagged
MAML	Mastermind-like
MAPK	Mitogen activated protein kinase
MDR	Multi-drug resistance protein

miRNA	Micro ribonucleic acid	RUVBL1	RuvB-like 1 (E. coli)
MMP	Matix metalloproteinase	RUVBL2	RuvB-like 2 (E. coli)
MRE	microRNA recognition element	SIF cells	Small intensly fluorescent cells
mRNA	messanger ribonucleic acid	siRNA	small interfering RNA
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin	SMAD	Small mother against decapentaplegic
MYC	v-myc myelocytomatosis viral	SNAIL	Snail family zinc finger
	oncogene homolog (avian)	snoRNA	Small nucleolar ribonucleic acid
MYCN	v-myc myelocytomatosis viral related	snoRNP	Small nucleolar ribonucleoprotein
	oncogene, neuroblastoma derived	SNS	Sympathetic nervous system
NAE1	(avian)	STMN2	Stathmin-like 2
INALI	ribonucleoprotein	T-ALL	T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemias
ncRNA	non-coding ribonucleic acid	TARBP2	TAR (HIV-1) RNA binding protein 2
NF	Neurofascin	TCA cycle	The citric acid cycle
NGF	Nerve growth factor	TERC	Telomerase RNA component
NHP2	NHP2 ribonucleoprotein	TERT	Telomerase reverse transcriptase
NOP10	NOP10 ribonucleoprotein	TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
NPY	Neuropeptide Y	TGFBR	Transforming growth factor beta
NSCLC	Non-small cell lung cancer		receptor
nt	Nucleotide	TH	Tyrosine hydroxylase
NT3	Neurotrophin 3	TRKA	Neurotrophic tyrosine kinase, receptor
NUMB	Numb homolog (Drosophila)	TREC	type I
ODD	Oxygen-dependent degradation	IKKC	type 3
	domain	TSG	tumour suppressor gene
OS	Overall survival	UTR	Untranslated region
p53	Tumor protein p53	VEGE	Vascular endothelial growth factor
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor	VEGER	Vascular endothelial growth factor
PECAM1	platelet/endothelial cell adhesion		receptor
	molecule 1	VHL	von Hippel Lindau
PHD	Prolyl hydroxylase	XPO5	Exportin 5
PHOX2A	paired-like homeobox 2a	ZEB	Zinc finger E-box binding homeobo
PHOX2B	paired-like homeobox 2b		
PI3K	Phosphotidylinositol 3 kinase		
PTEN	phosphatase and tensin homolog		
qPCR	Real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction		
RAS	v-Ki-ras2 Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog		
RCC	Renal cell carcinoma		
RISC	RNA-induced silencing complex		
RNA	ribonucleic acid		

Background

Brief Introduction to Cancer

The word cancer encompasses a wide variety of diseases, which together are one of the leading causes of death worldwide. Recent statistics estimate 7.5 million cancer-related deaths per year. Notably, this number is on the rise, and the number of cancer-related deaths is predicted to almost double by 2030 [1].

Although being a variety of diseases, cancers as a whole are characterized by a number of common features. First of all, cancers have a genetic basis, meaning that they are a result of deregulation of normal gene expression. While the underlying mechanisms behind the genetic abnormalities may vary, including DNA sequence mutations, genomic deletions and amplifications, and epigenetic alterations, the result in often the same; uncontrolled proliferation and immorality. Hanahan and Weinberg provided an updated description of the common characteristics ("hallmarks") of cancer, which in addition to proliferation and immortality included metastatic capacity, angiogenic potential, and genomic instability amongst others [2]. This thesis will address the regulation/deregulation of these cancer-characteristics in the childhood cancer neuroblastoma. In addition, the relevance of these processes in the development, progression and prognostics of neuroblastoma will be discussed.

Development of the sympathetic nervous system

During early embryogenesis, the ectoderm undergoes a folding process giving rise to the neural tube. At the edge of the folding ectoderm a structure known as the neural crest is transiently formed. These neural crest cells migrate throughout the body and are incorporated into almost every organ. During the migration process the neural crest cells undergo differentiation, giving rise to melanocytes, schwann/glial cells and sympatho-adrenal progenitor cells from which the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) is derived. Being one of the multiple pieces of the autonomic nervous system, the SNS is specifically responsible for an organism's "fight or flight" response. The SNS consists of three cell types including chromaffin cells (adrenal medullary cells), small intensely fluorescent (SIF) cells and sympathetic neurons (referred to as neuroblasts



Figure 1: Schematic of the embryonic development of the sympathetic nervous system (SNS). The cells of the SNS originate from neural crest cells derived from the ectoderm during the formation of the neural fold. Signals (such as BMP) encountered during migration along the neural tube/notochord/dorsal aorta result in commitment of neural crest cells towards a sympatho-adrenal lineage (sympatho-adrenal progenitor cells), which will give rise o the different cell types of the SNS.

during embryogenesis) [3]. The commitment of neural crest cells towards a sympatho-adrenal lineage is triggered by local secreted factors encountered as they migrate along the neural tube towards the dorsal aorta (Figure 1). Early secreted initiating factors include the bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) [4]. This is supported by the observation that neural crest cells expressing a constitutively active BMP-receptor differentiate towards a sympathetic neuron phenotype [5]. Once activated by BMPs, a cascade of events is triggered including migration of the cells to their destined locations (adrenal medulla, paraganglia and sympathetic ganglia) as well as activation of key transcription factors involved in driving neuronal differentiation [6]. Activation of these pro-neural transcription factors eventually results in the expression of neuronal proteins such as STMN2, GAP43 and NF [7] as well as the enzymes TH and DBH involved in the synthesis of catecholamines, a defining characteristic of neuronal cells of the SNS [8,9]. First following BMP stimulation is activation of the basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription factor ASCL1 [8]. Knockout experiments of Ascl1 in mice revealed a loss of sympathetic neurons [10]. Further studies have revealed that Ascl1's impact on neuronal differentiation is at least in part via activation of the transcription factor *Phox2a* [11]. While the BMP, Ascl1, Phox2a cascade does contribute sympatho-adrenal progenitor cell differentiation towards a neuronal lineage; this alone is not sufficient to induce full differentiation [12]. BMP activation has also been shown to drive expression of pro-neuronal markers in an Ascl1-independent manner, via Phox2b [7]. While Phox2b, like Ascl1, is able to activate Phox2a, Phox2b has also been shown to directly induce the expression of Hand2, which when overexpressed is sufficient to drive neuronal lineage differentiation [13]. Through a collaboration of these different BMP driven signalling pathways, the neuronal specific lineage of the sympatho-adrenal progenitors is determined. However, before terminal differentiation of sympathetic neurons is completed, exposure of developing sympatho-adrenal progenitor cells to surrounding bFGF and IGF results in the expression of the neurotrophin receptor Ntrk3 (TrkC). Through the subsequent stimulation of TrkC by the neurotrophin NTF3, Ntrk1 (TrkA) expression is induced. As a result, the cells are then rendered responsive to surrounding NGF [14]. Depending on the availability of NGF the neuroblasts are either stimulated, resulting in survival and differentiation, or undergo apoptosis [14,15]. Disruption of the differentiation/survival and apoptotic signalling in these embryonic neuroblasts is thought to be the cause of neuroblastomas [16,17].

Part I – The Disease

Neuroblastoma

What is Neuroblastoma?

Neuroblastoma is an embryonic malignancy that first presents in children under the age of 15 and accounts for 7% of all childhood malignancies. However, during the first year of life, neuroblastoma is the most commonly diagnosed cancer, with 90% of neuroblastomas occurring before the age of 5. Although being a relatively uncommon disease, neuroblastoma is the cause of up to 15% of cancer-related deaths amongst children [18-20]. With regards to clinical presentation, neuroblastoma is extremely heterogeneous ranging from children presenting with localized disease and extremely good prognoses, to children presenting with widespread metastases and a survival rate of approximately 40-50% [20]. In addition, a subset of patients presenting with metastases are characterized by spontaneous regression accompanied with a good outcome [18]. The principal sites of primary tumour occurrence include the adrenal gland, abdomen and sympathetic ganglia. Based on the location of the primary tumours and their characteristic secretion of catecholamines, neuroblastomas have

long been considered to arise from developing cells of the sympatho-adrenal lineage of the neural crest [18,19,21,22]. Early reports used immunohistochemical approaches to show that neuroblastomas expressed markers observed during development and differentiation of the neuronal lineage of SNS progenitor cells [16,23]. In general, expression of markers that are expressed in later stages of differentiation, such as TRKA and GAP43, is indicative of a better prognosis [24,25]. In 2006, De Preter et al. performed a study where they isolated human foetal neuroblasts as well as chromaffin cells from the developing adrenal gland [17]. Using gene expression array analyses they displayed significant overlaps between neuroblastoma and foetal neuroblast expression patterns, supporting the neuroblast cell of origin theory.

Genetics

Neuroblastomas are characterized by a surprisingly low prevalence of recurrent mutations in comparison to other malignancies [26,27], which makes the task of therapeutic target identification difficult. In addition, heritable neuroblastomas are rare accounting for less than 2% of cases [28-30]. Despite this, a number of genetic events associated with the disease have been identified. Not surprisingly, and in support of the neural crest derived cell of origin, the first identified mutation associated with familial neuroblastoma was in the PHOX2B gene [31]. As discussed above, PHOX2B is one of the earliest transcription factors involved in the differentiation of the sympatho-adrenal precursors [32]. Although being the first described, PHOX2B mutations are not the most common aberration in familial neuroblastomas. Recently, mutations in the anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) gene were reported in approximately 50% of hereditary neuroblastomas [33-35]. Interestingly, ALK and PHOX2B expression are positively correlated in both neuroblastoma cell lines and primary material. Furthermore, PHOX2B has been shown to induce ALK expression [36]. The occurrence of multiple mutations within a common signalling pathway highlights its importance in the development of familial neuroblastoma.

With regards to sporadic (non-familial) neuroblastomas, which account for 98% of the disease, no gene has had as much attention as *MYCN*. In the early 1980's, the *MYCN* gene was reported amplified in neuroblastomas [37-40]. MYCN is member of the MYC-family of basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription factors. This family of proteins is involved in the regulation of a variety of cellular process including proliferation, apoptosis and differentiation, and it has been estimated that MYC proteins can regulate up to 15% of all protein-coding genes [41]. Today it is estimated that approximately 20-25% of neuroblastomas harbour amplification (greater than 10 copies) of the *MYCN* gene [19]. Much like the genes already discussed with relevance to familial neuroblastoma, MYCN has been implicated to

have roles in the developing neural crest where it is involved in differentiation and proliferation [42]. In vitro studies have shown that upon knockdown of MYCN, neuroblastoma cells undergo spontaneous differentiation suggesting a role for maintaining neuroblastomas in an immature neuroblast-like state [43,44]. In addition, ectopic expression of Mycn under control of the sympathetic neuronal marker Th was used to develop the first mouse model of neuroblastoma, implying that amplification of *Mycn* alone is sufficient to initiate neuroblastoma development [45]. Patients harbouring MYCN-amplification are associated with poor prognosis and often present with widespread metastases already at diagnosis. ALK mutations, in addition to being present in a large proportion of familial neuroblastomas, are also present in approximately 10% of sporadic cases. Functional studies of ALK mutations have revealed a gain of function effect, resulting in increased cell proliferation in neuroblastoma cell lines. In addition, mutation of ALK, which often occurs in combination with MYCN-amplification, was recently shown to increase the penetrance and accelerate onset of disease in a MYCN-driven model of neuroblastoma in zebrafish [46]. This is in agreement with what is observed in clinic where patients presenting with ALK mutations in combination with MYCN-amplification have an extremely poor prognosis [47]. With regards to older neuroblastoma patients, mutations in the chromatin-modifier ATRX are amongst the most common, with 44% of patients over the age of 12 years presenting with ATRX mutations [26,48]. Interestingly, ATRX mutations are virtually non-existent in patients under the age of 18 months. In line with age at diagnosis, ATRX mutations are also associated with a poor prognosis. While specific mechanisms behind the tumourigenic effects of ATRX mutations in neuroblastoma patients remain elusive, ATRX has been shown to be involved in telomere regulation in other cell types [49,50]. Potential involvement of ATRX mutations in genetic instability through telomere maintenance is discussed in more detail below.

Shifting focus from specific gene involvement in the biology of neuroblastoma to broader genetic aberrations, multiple recurrent events have been described. Firstly, the overall ploidy of a neuroblastoma provides key biological information, with low- and intermediate risk-patients presenting with almost strictly numerical changes (near triploid). On the other hand near diploid or tetraploid tumours often harbour segmental aberrations and are associated with a poor prognosis [51]. Common among these segmental aberrations are gain of 17q (occurring in approximately 50% of sporadic neuroblastomas), as well as losses on 1p and 11q. As is reported with *ATRX* mutations, 11q losses are often observed in *MYCN* non-amplified and genetically complex tumours in older patients [52]. Recently, Molaaner et al. described an additional pattern of genomic abnormalities involving massive chromosomal rearrangements, in approximately 15-20% of high-risk patients [48]. This phenomenon, referred to as chromothripsis has been described in other cancer forms, however at a much lower frequency [53]. The relevance of this aberration in

neuroblastoma biology remains to be investigated, and other sequencing investigations report a much lower frequency in neuroblastomas [27].

Staging and Prognostics

In the 1970's, getting the diagnosis of neuroblastoma, regardless of stage, meant a dismal outcome for the patient with a 5-year survival of only 50%. Thankfully, as with most cancers, the prognosis for neuroblastoma patients has been improving over the years, increasing to an overall survival of 75% during the 1990's and early 2000's. This observed improvement is attributed to the development of better treatment regimens for the low-risk patients. Unfortunately, the same cannot be said for the high-risk patients, who today have an overall survival of 40-50% [18,20].

With regards to determining a patient's risk-group upon diagnosis, there are multiple clinical factors that must be considered. The first, and most reliable factor is the age at diagnosis, with all patients diagnosed at an age of over 18 months having a much shorter life expectancy [54,55]. Metastatic spread at diagnosis is also an important factor with regards to patient prognosis, and serves as the basis for the standard international neuroblastoma staging system (INSS) [19,20]. In brief, the INSS divides patients into 5 main stage groups, stages 1 through 4, and the less-understood stage 4S. Patients presenting with widespread metastases at diagnosis, occurring anywhere along the SNS and in the bone marrow are defined as stage 4 tumours. Patients with stage 4 disease have the worst prognosis of all the stages with an overall survival of 40-50% [18]. Stage 3 patients are identified based on a lesser extent of disease dissemination, however still presenting with metastases beyond the local lymph nodes. These patients in general have a better prognosis than stage 4 patients, however this is dependent on presence of other factors such as age at diagnosis and MYCN-amplification status. Localized tumours, with or without lymph node involvement, are classified as stages 2 and 1, respectively. These patients have a good prognosis with an overall survival of over 90%. The fifth group of patients, diagnosed under the age of 12 months and presenting with metastases to the liver and skin, with little bone marrow involvement, are classified as stage 4S. These tumours are characterized by spontaneous regression, a process that to date is not fully understood. As a result, these patients also have a good prognosis with survival rate of over 90% [18,51]. In addition to INSS, a recent additional staging system has been described: the international neuroblastoma risk group staging system (INRGSS) [56,57]. This staging system takes into consideration imaging data that provides information to surgeons on the likelihood of complete tumour resection.

As mentioned above, the genetics of neuroblastomas also contains substantial prognostic information that must be considered by the clinicians. With regards to overall DNA content, early studies revealed that patients presenting with whole

chromosome alterations (near triploid) are generally associated with lower stages of disease and a better prognosis. Patients with segmental aberrations and a near-diploid or -tetraploid genome are associated with higher stages and a poor prognosis [58]. *MYCN*-amplification is also an extremely important factor with regards to determining a patient's prognosis. Patients presenting with >10 copies of the *MYCN*-gene are associated with poor prognosis regardless of stage [19]. As a result, *MYCN*-amplification can be the deciding difference between a low stage and high stage classification with survival rates of >90% and 50%, respectively [51]. Interestingly, recent studies have reported that in addition to *MYCN*-amplification, overall MYC pathway activity provides additional prognostic information [24,59,60]. Fredlund et al. described that patients without *MYCN*-amplification can still have high MYC activity, which is also associated with a poor prognosis. Mechanisms behind this elevated MYC activity in the absence of amplification are still a matter of debate. However it has been suggested that this phenomenon is a result of increased MYC levels, as well as increased MYC/MYCN protein stability [24,60].

In addition to *MYCN*, there are multiple other genetic aberrations that provide prognostic information in the clinic, such as 1p deletion (often co-occurring with *MYCN*-amplification), 11q deletion and gain of 17q. All of these genetic events are observed in tumours with a near-diploid or -tetratploid genome and are associated with a poor prognosis [51].

Recent studies have also focused on a different line of prognostics involving the implementation of expression-based gene signatures. Many signatures have been described using a wide variety of approaches. For example, differential expression based on biological features such as differentiation status, tumour hypoxia and MYC pathway activity, as well as clinical features such as age at diagnosis and overall survival [24,60-65]. Unfortunately, the one feature that all the signatures have in common is their absence from the clinic. The reasons for this are many, including complexity of the assays, lack of additional information to the current stratification schemes, as well as inability to function on an individual patient basis. This topic of discussion is addressed at length in papers I and II.

Therapy

Treating neuroblastoma patients is a difficult task. With regards to developing and testing new therapies, the low number of patients and the sensitivity surrounding testing new approaches in children are issues that are not easy to overcome [51]. In addition, differences in drug metabolism, toxicities and potential for late effects must be considered when transferring therapies from adults to children. However, using the prognostic information described above, it is possible to classify neuroblastoma patients into different risk-groups requiring different approaches and intensities of

Table 1. Phenotypic and Genetic Features of Neuroblastoma, Treatment and Survival According to Prognostic Category				
	Prognostic Category			
Variable	Low Risk	Intermediate Risk	High Risk	Stage 4S
Stage*	1,2,3	1,2,3	3,4	4S
Pattern of Disease	Localized tumour; no <i>MYCN</i> -amplification	Localized tumour with locoregional lymph- node extension; metastases to bone marrow and bone; age at diagnosis <18 months; no MYCN- amplification	Metastases to bone marrow and bone; age at diagnosis > 18 months; <i>MYCN</i> - amplification may be present	Metastases to liveer and skin (with minimal bone marrow involvement); age at diagnosis<18 months; no <i>MYCN</i> - amplification
Tumour Genomics	Numerical aberrations	Numerical aberrations	Segmental aberrations	Numerical aberations
Treatment	Surgery	Surgery; Moderate- intensity chemotherapy	Dose-intensive chemotherapy, surgery, radiotherapy to primary tumour and resistant metastatic sitesM myeloablative chemotherapy with autologous hematopoietic stem-cell rescue; retinoic acid based therapy	Supportive care
Survival Rate (%)	>98	90 to 95	40 to 50	>90

*Stage categorization is a generalization and different stages could be categorized into different prognostic groups depending on additional clinical features. Table adapted from Maris, 2010 [17]. Modifications include addition of Stage and MYCN-status.

treatment regimens (Table 1). Briefly, low-risk patients presenting with localized tumours are usually treated with surgical resection resulting in a survival rate of >98%. Intermediate-risk group patients, including patients under the age of 18 months with lymph node involvement and in some instances metastases to bone/bone marrow are treated with surgery and moderate chemotherapy. With these treatments, intermediate-risk patients have a survival rate of >90%. High-risk patients, on the other hand, include patients over 18 months as well as patients that present with widespread metastases and/or MYCN-amplifications, are treated with a combination of surgery, intensive chemotherapy, radiotherapy as well as stem cell transplants. Despite this intense treatment plan, survival rates of high-risk neuroblastomas are <50%. With regards to stage 4S patients, these patients are provided supportive care. This implies a "wait and see" approach, where treatment is withheld unless are lifethreatening paraneoplastic effects, such as damage to the liver. In such instances, lowdose chemotherapy and/or local radiation therapy are used, with a survival rate of over 90% [18,51]. In addition to the conventional therapies described above, some high-risk patients (those with a first time remission) are also treated using retinoic acid, with the hopes to induce terminal differentiation of the neuroblastoma cells

[66]. This therapy has had positive effects with a reported reduction in the risk for relapse, however prediction of patients that will respond to this treatment remains to be elucidated. In a recent study by Molenaar et al. they identified mutations amongst genes involved in neuritogenesis and growth cone formation, processes that are affected by retinoic acid [48]. Taking such genetic information into consideration could be of importance in identifying retinoic acid-responding patients.

Part II – Molecular Pathways and Processes

Hypoxia

What is hypoxia?

Hypoxia is a phenomenon that is extremely context and tissue dependent. A general definition of hypoxia is when the oxygen supply to a given cell, tissue or organism is less than that required to maintain a normal biological state. With regards to most human tissues, an oxygen level of approximately 5% is considered to be "normal". When levels drop to around 1%, the tissue is then considered to be hypoxic [67]. It has been reported that oxygen is capable of diffusing up to 150 μ m through a tissue [68]. In a cellular context this is equivalent to approximately 10 cell layers from the oxygen source (blood vessel). Due to the growth and expansion that is characteristic of all virtually all solid tumours, recruitment and development of new vasculature (a process referred to as angiogenesis; discussed below) often lags behind, resulting in inadequate oxygen delivery and the formation of hypoxic regions. Starting at

approximately 200 μ m from the nearest oxygen source, areas of necrosis can be observed within solid tumours [68]. Depending on the length of exposure to hypoxia, tumours respond in a variety of ways. During the acute phase of hypoxia tumour cells respond by secreting angiogenic factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGFA) in order to initiate the recruitment of new blood vessels [69-71]. Although tumours are able to develop new vasculature, often at a higher density than in normal tissues, the vasculature is often immature and lacks supportive cells [72]. As a result the vasculature is only semi-functional and leaky, which over time leads to chronic hypoxic environments within the tumour [71,73]. During longer periods of hypoxia, additional cellular responses occur including a shift of metabolism towards glycolysis [74] as well as altered differentiation states [75,76]. These changes, in combination with the formation of new leaky vasculature, have been described to give rise to the aggressive phenotype associated with hypoxia [77,78].

HIFs and the hypoxic response

Control of the cellular responses to hypoxia is primarily carried out by the hypoxiainducible factors (HIFs) [77]. HIFs are heterodimer proteins consisting of alpha and beta subunits. Three HIF- α proteins have been described including HIF1 α [79], HIF2 α (EPAS1) [80] and the less studied HIF3 α [81]. HIF1 α and HIF2 α are basic helix-loop-helix (HLH)-PAS containing transcription factors. The N-terminal basic domain allows for DNA binding and the HLH-PAS domain is responsible for the interaction with the HIF- β subunit (HIF1 β /ARNT) [82,83]. While all HIFs are constitutively expressed, in the presence of oxygen the HIF- α subunits are continuously degraded (Figure 2). This process is initiated by the hydroxylation of proline residues present in the N-terminal oxygen degradation domain (ODD) of the HIF- α proteins by prolylhydroxylases (PHDs). Once hydroxylated, the HIF- α proteins are recognized by the E3-ligase complex von Hippel-Lindau (VHL) resulting in their ubiquitination and subsequent proteasomal degradation [84]. However, under hypoxic conditions the lack of oxygen renders the PHDs incapable of hydroxylating the HIFs resulting in HIF- α stabilization. Once stabilized, the HIF- α subunits heterodimerize with ARNT leading to their translocation to the nucleus. Once in the nucleus the HIF/ARNT heterodimer recruits transactivators (CBP/p300) and binds to hypoxic response elements (HREs) in the promoters of their target genes. Binding of the complex to HREs results in transcriptional activation of such prototypical target genes as VEGFA, GLUT1, as well as genes involved in Notch signalling, all of which are involved in the hypoxic response processes described above [77].

In addition to the PHD-mediated HIF- α degradation, additional levels of HIF regulation exist. The factor inhibiting HIF (FIH) protein is an asparaginyl



Figure 2. Schematic of oxygen-regulated HIF activity. HIF proteins are constitutively expressed, however, under normoxic conditions HIF- α proteins are hydroxylated by PHDs leading to recognition by VHL and subsequent degradation. Under hypoxic conditions, the lack of oxygen renders the PHDs incapable of hydroxylation, resulting in HIF- α stabilization and dimerization with ARNT. Once in the nucleus the heterodimer interacts with transacivators p300/CBP as well as other co-factors, leading to HRE-binding and transcriptional activation of HIF target genes.

hydroxylase that has been shown to hydroxylate aspargine residues in the C-terminal transactivation domain of the HIF- α subunits [85]. Upon transactivation domain hydroxylation, the ability of HIF- α proteins to interact with co-activating proteins is diminished, resulting in inhibition of target gene activation. Much like the PHDs, FIH requires oxygen for hydroxylation and is therefore rendered inactive under hypoxic conditions. Although oxygen-dependent HIF-regulation appears to be major determinant of HIF activity, studies have also reported HIF-regulation (transcriptional activation and/or protein stabilization) by signalling pathways independent of the presence of oxygen. Such pathways include RAS-, EGFR-, and INSR-pathways, all of which have downstream activation of the PI3K/AKT, mTOR and MAPK pathways in common [77]. To add to the complexity, specific target genes for HIF1 α and HIF2 α have been described, which can result in differential effects in a cell and context dependent manner [71,86]. The divergent effects of HIF1 α and HIF2 α will be further discussed below.

Hypoxia, cancer and aggressiveness

Hypoxia is a common feature of all solid tumours and has been associated with an aggressive phenotype in a variety of cancers including breast cancer, bladder cancer, colorectal cancer and neuroblastoma amongst others [87,88]. The association to aggressive phenotype has been extensively investigated and multiple underlying mechanisms have been proposed. As described above, the initial hypoxic response involves HIF-mediated activation of VEGFA resulting in recruitment and formation of new immature vasculature. The presence of the semi-functional vasculature has been reported to contribute to tumour aggressiveness in multiple ways. For one, due to the less-tight junctions between the endothelial cells (attributed to the reduced presence of supportive cells such as pericytes) the vasculature contains gaps, which provide tumour cells access to the circulation, potentially resulting in metastases formation [89]. In addition, this leaky vasculature results in increased intra-tumoural pressure making drug delivery within the tumour difficult [90]. This is likely a contributor to drug resistance often observed with advanced disease. Hypoxia's effects on drug resistance may also have a more direct route through HIF-dependent activation of multi-drug resistant (MDR) proteins and ATP-binding protein (ABC) transporters. These proteins have been shown to regulate both the cellular influx and efflux of drugs and expression of ABC proteins has been reported to be associated with poor prognosis in multiple tumour types including neuroblastoma [91,92]. Hypoxia-induced alterations to cellular metabolism have also been associated with tumour aggressiveness. A metabolic shift towards glycolysis, in part orchestrated by HIF activation of glucose transporters GLUT1 and GLUT3, provides the cells with a growth advantage under low oxygen conditions [74]. Through the process of glycolysis cells divert from using the citric acid (TCA) cycle, where ATP production is the main objective, and instead focus the use glucose to produce an abundance of building blocks required for the rapid cell division [93]. In addition, glycolysis results in the production and excretion of lactic acid leading to a lowered surrounding PH and elevated degradation of the extra-cellular matrix (ECM) likely contributing to the cancer's metastatic potential [94]. Along with elevated degradation capacity, tumour cells may become more motile and/or less adherent under low oxygen conditions, an observation that has been attributed to HIF-induced dedifferentiation and/or epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) [75,95].

With all associations between the hypoxic response and tumour progression, it is not a surprise that mutations affecting the HIF-pathway have been identified as drivers behind multiple malignancies. Such mutations can include activation-mutations along the PI3K, mTOR, MAPK pathways leading to increased *HIF* transcription [77] as well as the well-described inactivation mutations in *VHL* resulting in HIF-protein stabilization [96]. These *VHL* mutations have been reported in approximately 80% of all clear cell renal cell carcinomas (ccRCCs), in strong support of a driving role in the development of the disease. Interestingly, studies of the HIF-networks in ccRCCs have revealed potentially opposing roles of the two HIF- α proteins. While both HIFs lead to activation of the hypoxic response, RCCs have demonstrated a selective pressure favouring HIF2 α [97,98]. In fact, both primary RCCs as well as RCC cell lines often express only HIF2 α , while RCCs solely expressing HIF1 α have not been described [99]. *In vivo* xenograft studies have revealed that HIF1 α expression in RCC cells is associated with diminished tumour growth while HIF2 α expression is associated with a stem-like phenotype and increased aggressiveness [98,100]. These studies again highlight the differences between the two HIF- α proteins, an observation that is also described in neuroblastoma [71].

Hypoxia and neuroblastoma

Studies have indeed shown that neuroblastoma cells are capable of initiating a hypoxic response, with observed HIF1a and HIF2a protein expression under low oxygen conditions. Jögi et al. described that upon exposure to hypoxia, neuroblastoma cells appear to shift towards a dedifferentiated state, with lowered expression of sympathetic neuronal markers such as NPY and HAND2 and elevated expression of neural crest markers NOTCH1 and ID2 [75]. Of note, HIF2a has been reported to be expressed and play an important role during SNS development and may therefore be involved in the dedifferentiation process observed in neuroblastoma [75,101-103]. As is observed in RCC, expression of the HIF- α proteins under hypoxia in neuroblastoma cells is a dynamic process. During initial/acute exposure to hypoxia, HIF1a levels rise quickly. However, with onset of chronic hypoxia HIF1a levels decline with an accompanied rise in HIF2a [71]. Considering the often-chronic hypoxic environment observed in solid tumours, this would suggest that hypoxic effects on neuroblastomas might primarily be HIF2a driven. Interestingly, HIF2a stabilization has been reported in in the oxygen rich perivascular niche of neuroblastoma tumours, where its presence was associated with expression of early sympathetic progenitor markers such as NOTCH1, HES-1 and vimentin [104]. This supported the notion that HIF2 α may be involved in maintaining an undifferentiated phenotype in neuroblastoma. In vivo xenograft studies further revealed that upon $HIF2\alpha$ knockdown in neuroblastoma cells, there was observed neuronal differentiation accompanied with necrotic regions, again suggestive of a tumourpromoting role for HIF2 α in neuroblastoma [105].

Notch

Overview of Notch signalling

The Notch pathway is a highly conserved pathway involved in contact-dependent cell-cell interactions. Notch was originally described in Drosophila where flies displaying "notches" in their wings were found to be heterozygous for the Notch gene. Studies since then have displayed the importance of Notch signalling in a variety of developmental and cellular process including limb development, neurogenesis, stem cell maintenance, proliferation, apoptosis and cell migration. Involvement of Notch in such process can be attributed to its juxtacrine characteristic of inducing differential signalling in neighbouring cells [106,107]. In mammalian cells there are four described trans-membrane Notch receptors (NOTCH1-4) [108]. The Notch receptors are composed of an extracellular domain containing EGF-like repeats required for ligand binding, an ectodomain, a trans-membrane domain and an intracellular domain. Regulation of the Notch receptors occurs at multiple levels [109]. Before transport to the membrane, Notch receptors undergo modification in the Golgi apparatus including a Furine-mediated cleavage leading to the formation of the extra- and intracellular domains of the receptor [110]. In addition, modulation by the Fringe glycotransferases is suggested to regulate differential receptor activation in a ligand-dependent manner [110,111]. Once in the membrane, NUMB and other ubiquitin ligases target Notch receptors, leading to endocytosis and degradation. In doing so, NUMB is involved in the control the number of expressed Notch receptors and therefore regulates the potential activity of the overall pathway [112].

There are 5 described Notch ligands including the delta-like ligands (DLL1, 3 and 4) and the jagged ligands (JAG1 and 2) [109]. These membrane bound ligands contain EGF-like repeats in their extracellular domains that allow for binding and activation of the Notch receptors on adjacent cells [111] (Figure 3). Upon ligand binding to a receptor, conformational changes to the receptor result in multiple protealytic cleavages. The first cleavage is carried out by the extracellular ADAM metalloproteases. The resulting additional conformational changes to the receptor open it for cleavage by the γ -secretase complex. Following cleavage by gammasecretase, the intracellular domain of Notch (ICN) is released, initiating Notch signal transduction [112,113]. Once released, ICN is translocated to the nucleus where it interacts with the DNA binding proteins CSL and MAML as well as additional coactivators and RNA polymerase II. Although being an extensively studied signalling pathway, identification of Notch target genes remains limited. However, Notch activation is often associated with the expression of two families of bHLH transcriptional repressors, Hair/Enhancer of Split (HES) and Hairy-related (HEY) [114-116].



Figure 3. Schematic of Notch signalling pathway. Juxtacrine signalling between adjacent cells involves expression of a Notch ligand on one cell binding and activating a Notch receptor on a neighbouring cell. Ligand-receptor binding initiates a sequence of protealytic cleavages on the Notch receptor carried out by ADAM and γ -secretase, resulting in the release of the intracellular domain of the receptor (ic-Notch). Once in the nucleus ic-Notch interacts with co-factors MAML and CSL resulting in the replacement of co-repressors (Co-R) with co-activators (Co-A) leading to target gene transcriptional activation.

In addition to the prototypical Notch signalling described above, many other aspects contribute to the regulation of this complex pathway. For one, atypical ligands exist including the most frequently described Delta homolog-like-1 (DLK1). DLK1, although having differences in its extracellular domain when compared to the typical Notch ligands, does contain EGF-like repeats, which allow for binding and regulation

of Notch receptors [117]. Another layer of complexity arises when discussing activation potential of the different ligands on the different receptors. As mentioned above, modulations to the receptors during maturation result in different activation capacities depending on which ligand is bound [112]. This process is especially relevant in the process of angiogenesis where DLL4 has been shown to be the most potent activator of Notch signalling when compared to the other ligands [118]. This scenario will be discussed in more detail in the angiogenesis section of this introduction. Although Notch is considered a cell-cell juxtacrine signalling pathway, studies have also investigated the effects of same cell ligand-receptor interactions as well as surrounding soluble ligands. In general, such interactions result in inhibition of Notch signalling due to sequestration of the receptors from their typical juxtacrine ligand activation [110,119-121]. Reports on CSL-independent Notch signalling [122] as well as overlaps and interactions with other signalling pathways such as RAS, PI3K and TGF- β all contribute further to the complexity of this central and conserved developmental pathway [123-125].

Notch and cancer

Being central in cell fate and developmental processes, defects in Notch signalling have been reported in multiple malignancies including blood, breast, brain and skin cancers, to name a few [126-129]. In T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemias (T-ALLs) it was discovered that NOTCH1 was involved in a chromosomal translocation (7:9), resulting in constitutive activation of ICN1 [126], although these translocations were found in only 1% of T-ALLs. This discovery lead to further studies that identified mutations in the NOTCH1 gene leading to increased receptor cleavage, in 55% of all T-ALLs [130]. In breast cancers, elevated Notch signalling has been associated to a lower differentiation state and more aggressive disease [131]. Furthermore, elevated JAG1 expression and ICN1 staining have also been associated with poor prognosis and increased risk for recurrence [132]. In addition, lowered NUMB expression, involved in the degradation of Notch receptors, has been reported in up to half of all breast cancers, and was associated with an increased sensitivity to Notch inhibiting drugs including γ -secretase inhibitors (GSIs) [133]. In mouse models of breast cancer, expression of intracellular domains of the notch receptors in mammary epithelial cells resulted in a developmental block and eventual onset of tumour formation [134]. Similarly to breast cancer, reduced levels of NUMB expression have also been reported in medulloblastomas potentially resulting in elevated Notch activity [135]. In support of the relevance of Notch signalling in medulloblastoma, xenograft studies on Notch inhibition revealed decreased tumour growth and increased apoptosis upon treatment with GSIs. In addition, GSI treatment also lead to a reduction of CD133expressing cells, indicating a potential role Notch signalling in the maintenance of medulloblastoma stem cells [136]. As opposed to the cancers described above, Notch

signalling in skin cancers has been associated with tumour-suppressive effects. Notch1 knockout mice have an increased susceptibility for both basal cell and squamous cell carcinomas [137]. In vitro studies have also reported reduced proliferation and increased differentiation of mouse keratinocytes upon *Notch1* activation [138]. Taken together, these studies highlight the importance of Notch signalling in a variety of malignancies, however also show the extreme tissue-specific effects that this pathway may have. This is important when discussing the use of Notch inhibitors as a cancer therapy. Although GSIs have shown promising effects in clinic, severe side effects may also occur such as gastro-intestinal problems arising from deregulation of intestinal crypt stem cells [139]. Studies have however described reduced side effects to Notch inhibiting treatments when the GSIs are administered intermittently and in combination with corticosteroids [140,141]. In addition, recent studies have described the development of NOTCH1 decoys consisting of the NOTCH1 extracellular EGF-repeat domains functioning as competitive inhibitors for the Notch ligands [142]. It was suggested that due to the size of the molecules, they are more readily available within the vasculature than in the surrounding tissues such as the intestinal crypt cells mentioned above. Administration of such molecules would therefore allow for the anti-angiogenic effects of Notch-inhibition on tumour growth (discussed below) while avoiding off-target effects in other tissues.

Notch signalling in SNS and neuroblastoma

Both Notch ligands and receptors are expressed in the developing SNS, although little is known about their specific roles [143]. As has been described within the CNS, it has been proposed that Notch signalling is involved in the maintenance of sympathoadrenal progenitor cells [144]. In support of this, mouse knockout studies targeting Notch components result in premature neuronal differentiation and a reduction in neuronal progenitors. In addition, overexpression of ICN1 in a chick embryo model of neuronal development resulted in an increased number of sympathetic ganglia progenitors [144]. Molecular studies have also displayed a role for Hes1 in the inhibition of Ascl1 transcription, thereby preventing differentiation of neural crest cells towards sympathetic neuronal progenitors (described above) [145]. Taking into consideration the relevance of Notch signalling in the developing SNS, it seems reasonable to expect a role for Notch signalling in neuroblastoma. Indeed, treatment of neuroblastoma cell lines using the GSI DAPT (N-[N-(3,5-Difluorophenacetyl)-Lalanyl]-S-phenylglycine t-butyl ester) resulted in differentiation and neuritogenesis, suggesting a Notch-mediated maintenance of a dedifferentiated state [146]. In addition, overexpression of ICN1 renders neuroblastoma cells incapable of differentiating [147]. As previously mentioned, exposure of neuroblastoma cells to hypoxia results in a loss of neuronal markers (NPY and HAND2) with an increase in neural crest makers (NOTCH1, HES1 and HEY1) [75]. Furthermore, HIF2a

positive stem-like cells located in the perivascular niche of neuroblastoma tumours coexpress *NOTCH1* and *HES1* [104]. Taking all into consideration, it seems possible that a combination of Hypoxia, HIF and Notch activation contribute to the maintenance of immature stem-like cells in neuroblastoma and may play a role in the aggressiveness of the disease.

TGF-β

Overview of TGF-β

With their name originating from their ability to transform normal cells into cells capable of growth in soft agar, the transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-B) family includes a variety of proteins including the TGF-B isoforms, bone morphogenic proteins (BMPs), amongst others [148]. Functioning as a typical ligand-receptor activated signalling pathway, the variety of members within the TGF- β family allows for its involvement in plethora of cellular processes including cell growth, differentiation, apoptosis, adhesion, migration, and EMT. The TGF-B ligands include TGFB1-3, which are secreted and held inactive in the surrounding ECM. The TGF- β family of receptors are heterodimers and can be divided into three subtypes: TBRI, TBRII and TBRIII. Upon matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)mediated release of TGF-B from the ECM, TGF-B binds a TBRII-family receptor (TGFBR2) resulting in heterodimerization with and transactivation/phosphorylation of a TBRI-family receptor (TGFBR1) (Figure 4). Once activated, the TGFBR1/2 complex relays the signal via the small mother against decapentaplegic (SMAD) proteins. The receptor associated SMAD2 and SMAD3 upon phosphorylation form a complex with SMAD4. The SMAD activated complex is then translocated to the nucleus where it binds cofactors (co-activators/co-repressors) leading to DNA binding and regulation of target gene transcription [149,150]. With regards to the TBRIII receptor family, these proteins lack a kinase domain however have been shown to have ligand binding capacity. By binding ligands TBRIIIs act as ligand presenters to TβRIIs thereby potentiating TGF-β signalling [150].



Figure 4. Schematic of canonical TGF- β signalling. TGF- β binding to TGFBR2 results in TGFB2-TGFBR1 heterodimerization. Activated TGFBR complex phosphorylates SMAD2/3 leading to interaction with SMAD4 and translocation to the nucleus. In the nucleus the SMAD complex interacts with Coactivators/Co-repressors (context-dependent) resulting in transcriptional regulation of TGF- β target genes

TGF-β and cancer

The discussion around the role of TGF- β signalling in cancer is complex and extremely cell type and context dependent. Studies have reported loss-of-function mutations within the TGF- β pathway in a variety of cancers including breast, colon and pancreatic cancers [151-153]. These mutations would be suggestive of a tumour suppressor gene (TSG) role for TGF- β signalling. Molecular studies into the mechanisms behind TGF- β 's cellular effects have revealed that TGF- β signalling can result in up-regulation of cell cycle inhibitors such as p15 and p21, while at the same time repressing the expression of cell cycle drivers such as *MYC* [149]. In addition, reports have also described TGF- β -dependent expression of pro-apoptotic genes such
as *BIM*, as well as repression of the ID gene family, resulting in increased differentiation [154,155]. Taken together, TGF- β activity has been implicated in preventing proliferation, activating apoptosis and inducing differentiation, all characteristics of a prototypical TSG.

Interestingly, and in contrast to the studies discussed above, reports have described oncogenic roles of TGF- β signalling in multiple cancer types [156-158]. This is commonly attributed to TGF- β 's capacity to induce EMT, resulting in a more motile and mesenchymal-like cell phenotype [159]. TGF- β -mediated SMAD activation has been shown to elevate the expression of transcriptional repressors such as SNAIL and ZEB. These genes in return repress the expression of E-cadherin (CDH1), which is a hallmark EMT. In addition to promoting EMT, TGF-B signalling has also been shown to induce MMP expression and thereby aid in the degradation of the ECM surrounding both the primary and metastatic sites [160]. The degradation of ECM is not only important for the migration of tumour cells, but also for the recruitment of new blood vessels to the growing tumour. Thus, through elevated of MMP expression, as well as TGF- β -dependent induction of VEGFA, TGF- β likely also plays a role in tumour angiogenesis [161]. In addition to providing the nutritional support to the tumour, the newly formed vessels also provide a potential "highway" for tumour cells to metastasize, once again implicating TGF- β in the metastatic process. Although TGF- β signalling is implicated in oncogenic processes, the cytostatic effects must be overcome in order for TGF- β to contribute to tumour progression. This provides reasoning to the idea that during early tumour formation TGF- β acts as a TSG, where as during progression of the disease these TSG effects are circumvented, turning TGF-β into a *bona fide* oncogene [162].

TGF-β in neuroblastoma

When investing retinoic acid (RA)-induced differentiation of neuroblastoma cells, it was noted that there was an up-regulation of TGF- β pathway components including TGF- β 1 as well as the TGF- β receptors (TGFBR1-3) [163]. Following this observation it was reported in multiple studies that stimulation of neuroblastoma cells with TGF- β 1 also resulted in induction of differentiation [164-166]. In addition, overexpression of TGFBR2 resulted in a differentiated phenotype and growth inhibition both *in vitro* and *in vivo* [165]. These results are corroborated by the observations presented in paper III of this thesis where we describe a MYCNdependent inhibition of TGF- β signalling via induction of the miR-17-92 cluster of microRNAs (miRNAs) resulting in a more aggressive phenotype [167]. Confusingly, in recent work by Lynch et al. they also describe a MYCN-dependent regulation of TGF- β signalling via miRNA, however in a positive fashion [168]. In this case MYCN inhibits miR-335 expression, resulting in an up-regulation of non-canonical TGF- β signalling through MAPK and Rho-associated coiled-coil containing protein (ROCK1). This non-canonical TGF- β activity was shown to have pro-migratory and invasive effects neuroblastoma cells, suggesting an oncogenic role for TGF- β . Although this may seem contradictory to the previous results described in neuroblastoma, these differential effects could potentially be explained by differences between canonical (SMAD-dependent) and non-canonical (SMAD-independent) TGF- β signalling. However, together these results indicate an intricate interplay between MYCN and TGF- β , potentially contributing to the aggressive behaviour of *MYCN*-amplified neuroblastomas.

Angiogenesis

What is angiogenesis?

Angiogenesis can be described as the process of producing new vessels from preexisting vasculature. In the case of solid tumours, this process is continuously ongoing and is often referred to as neoangiogenesis. In brief, signals from the growing tumour interact with the surrounding vasculature resulting in stimulation and activation of the endothelial cells [73]. The activated endothelial cells undergo a cell-fate determination process (discussed at length below) becoming one of two types: a "tip cell", responsible for guiding the newly forming vessel, or a "stalk cell" responsible for vessel elongation and tubulogenesis (lumen formation) [169,170]. With regards to tubulogenesis, the mechanisms behind this process are still a matter of debate. What can be said is that lumen formation is a result of cytoskeletal reorganization in response to polarity establishment, most likely under the control of interactions with the surround ECM. Two models of how this process occurs have been proposed. The first model, referred to as "cell hollowing" involves an intracellular accumulation of pinocytotic vesicles within a given stalk cell, which when joined together form a central vacuole [171,172]. Fusion of vacuoles across adjoining cells then results in the formation of the vascular lumen. Cell hollowing works upon the assumption that the invading vessel is composed of a single polarized-layer of endothelial stalk cells. In contrast, the second proposed model of tubulogenesis, referred to as "chord hollowing", assumes a depolarization of stalk cells during the process of vessel elongation, resulting in a multicell-layered vessel [173,174]. Upon cues from the surrounding ECM, endothelial cell polarity can be restored with the basal membrane facing the ECM and the apical membrane forming at cell-cell junctions. It is at these

cell-cell junctions that intracellular vacuoles cluster, which when fused across multiple cells forms the new vascular lumen. In a review by Tung et al. the molecular mechanisms behind the different models of tubulogenesis are discussed in more detail [175]. Following vessel elongation and lumen formation, the final step of angiogenesis involves the recruitment of supportive perivascular cells such as pericytes. As discussed above, this final maturation step is often deregulated in tumours resulting in the "leaky-vessel" phenotype associated with neoangiogenesis [73,89,175].

Hypoxia, HIFS and angiogenesis

As described above in the discussions surrounding hypoxia, low oxygen levels within solid tumours often results in the initiation of neoangiogenesis. This initiation step is primarily under the control of hypoxia-induced HIF stabilization and activation of its target genes [70]. The most commonly described HIF target with regards to angiogenesis is VEGFA, which is transcriptionally induced through direct HIFbinding to an HRE in its promoter [69]. Production and secretion of VEGFA is a key event in the initial activation of resting endothelial cells, as well as the formation of the growth-factor gradient that provides direction to the newly forming vessel. In addition to their role in VEGFA production, HIFs have also been shown to elevate levels of other angiogenic factors including VEGFR1, PDGFB, EPO and FGF2 [77,176,177]. Interplay between HIFs and other pathways can also have effects on neoangiogenesis, including HIF-Notch and HIF-TGF- β pathway interactions. Hypoxia is reported to have an elevating effect on Notch signalling at multiple levels, including up-regulation of Notch pathway components and its target genes [75,178-183]. As will be discussed below and in paper IV, regulation of the Notch pathway is central to the process of angiogenesis, and HIF-dependent Notch regulation results in observable effects in developing vasculature. With regards to HIF-TGF-β interplay, previous reports have indicated that hypoxia can induce elevated levels of TGF-B signalling in tumour cells [184]. As mentioned above, TGF-β activation can lead to MMP induction resulting in ECM degradation, a process required for invasion of the developing vessels [160].

Notch and angiogenesis

Upon initial VEGFA stimulation of endothelial cells, a cascade of events occurs including endothelial cell-fate determination resulting in tip and stalk cell formation. The Notch pathway tightly regulates this essential cell-fate determination in a process referred to as lateral inhibition [175]. Breaking this incredibly complex and dynamic process down into the key steps leading to cell fate determination, the initial

activation of VEGFR2 by VEGFA results in formation of filopodia and a nonproliferative cell state [185,186]. In addition, there is a rapid up-regulation of the Notch ligand DLL4. Upon localization to the membrane, DLL4 binds and activates NOTCH1 on the adjacent endothelial cell(s). Activation of NOTCH1 in return results in the down-regulation of VEGFR2 altering the cell's response to VEGFA stimulation. As apposed to the DLL4 expressing cells, these Notch-activated cells instead respond to VEGFA stimulation by proliferating [185,186]. Once these steps have been completed, the once homogenous population of luminal endothelial cells has now given rise to two cell populations; Firstly, a non-proliferative, VEGFAsensitive and DLL4 expressing tip cell responsible for the guidance of the new vessel along the VEGFA gradient towards the hypoxic source. Secondly, proliferative, VEGFA-insensitive stalk cells responsible for vessel elongation. Taking all into consideration, Notch-activation results in a stalk cell phenotype, whereas low levels of Notch activation results in a tip cell phenotype. In support of this notion, multiple studies have shown that inhibition of Notch in endothelial cells results in an overrepresentation of tip cells leading to hyper-branching and an increase in vascular density [187-189].

In addition to the essential steps described above, other levels of angiogenic "finetuning" have been described. With focus on the NOTCH-activated stalk cells, upregulation of VEGFR1 has been reported. VEGFR1, although having a high affinity for VEGFA, only produces a low level of activity upon stimulation when compared to VEGFR2 stimulation. As a result, VEGFR1 acts in competitive manner to bind VEGFA and, in doing so, further prevents VEGFR2 stimulation in the stalk cells [190]. Considering the different effects observed upon VEGFA stimulation of the two VEGF-receptors, stimulation of VEGFR1 could also provide an explanation for the proliferative phenotype observed in stalk cells when exposed to VEGFA. This hypothesis however remains to be investigated. Benedito et al. described an additional level of angiogenic fine-tuning where the role of the Notch-ligand JAG1 was investigated [118]. In a mouse model of retinal angiogenesis, JAG1 deletion in endothelial cells resulted in the presence of fewer tip cells and reduced vascular branching. Overexpression of *IAG1* on the other hand resulted in a hyper-branching phenotype and an overrepresentation of tip cells, a scenario often associated with Notch inhibition. Interestingly, it was shown that in comparison to DLL4, JAG1induced NOTCH1 activation produced a substantially weaker Notch signal. As a result, although being an activator of Notch signalling, JAG1 stimulation resulted in an overall reduction in Notch activity in endothelial cells resulting in a hyperbranching phenotype. In an earlier study in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, it was found that JAG1 expression on tumour cells resulted in extensive branching of the surrounding vasculature [191]. Although this hyper-branching was attributed to JAG1-dependent Notch receptor activation in the endothelial cells, the study by Benedito et al. [118] may provide insight into the phenotypic response that was

observed. Moreover, these studies together suggest that ligand-dependent fine-tuning of Notch signalling in the process of angiogenesis involves interaction of multiple cell types.

HIF-Notch interplay and potential effects on angiogenesis

As described above, studies have observed elevated Notch activity under hypoxic conditions, however a consensus on the underlying mechanisms behind these observations has yet to be reached. Some of the observations can be explained by the existence of target genes common to both pathways, such as HEY1 that contains both HREs as well as CSL binding sites within its promoter [182]. On the other hand, Gustafsson et al. described an increase in ICN1 levels in addition to elevated CSLreporter signal when cells were exposed to hypoxia. Such effects are most likely not a result of shared target genes [178]. This observation was attributed to a HIF-ICN1 interaction, where HIF contributed both the ICN1 stability as well as increased the CSL-complex transcriptional proficiency. Other studies have reported elevated levels of Notch ligands upon tumour cell exposure to hypoxia [182,183]; however the effects this may have on Notch activity was not addressed. Elevation of Notch ligands in hypoxic tumour cells may not only be relevant within the tumour cells themselves, but may also have an effect on neoangiogenesis. Although the VEGFA-gradient effects on endothelial cell Notch signalling may, in part, account for the hyperbranching associated with neoangiogenesis, hyper-branching in mouse xenograft models does not occur in a gradient manner. What is observed in these mouse models is an even more exaggerated branching upon contact of the recruited vasculature with the implanted tumour cells [192]. This may be indicative of a tumour cell contactdependent Notch inhibition within the endothelial cells. As discussed above, expression of JAG1 within endothelial cells (and potentially on tumour cells) has an overall Notch inhibitory effect resulting in increased vascular branching [118,191]. With this in consideration, hypoxia induced Notch ligand expression on tumour cells could result in similar effects. This notion is addressed in paper IV.

Anti-angiogenic therapy

As has been discussed at length, recruitment of new vasculature is considered essential for the development and progression of solid tumours. With this knowledge, many efforts have been made with regards to developing anti-angiogenic therapies. The approach that has gained the most attention is the use of VEGF-inhibitors such as Avastin/bevacizumab. This drug is used clinically in the treatment of a variety of malignancies including colon cancer and RCC. However, acquired resistance as well as links to increased metastatic potential limit Avastin's anti-tumour potential [193-196]. On a promising note, recent studies using mouse models have elucidated that the increased metastatic potential of cancer cells following Vegf-inhibition can be attributed to an increase in c-Met expression. In addition, combined inhibition of both Vegf and c-Met resulted in a decrease in tumour growth without any observed increase in metastases [197,198].

In order to address anti-angiogenic drug development from a different angle, other studies have focused on targeting the Notch pathway. DLL4-specific inhibitors in murine tumour models have displayed inhibitory effects on tumour growth attributed to excessive hyper-branching of non-functional vasculature [187,188]. Unfortunately DLL4 inhibitors have also been associated with adverse side effects including liver haemorrhaging following prolonged use [199]. More broad-spectrum Notch inhibitors such as GSIs have also been investigated with similar anti-tumour effects to those observed with the aforementioned therapies [141]. Unfortunately, Notch inhibition using GSIs has detrimental effects on intestinal crypt stem cells, resulting in gastro-intestinal problems for the patients [139]. As with studies addressing the adverse affects of VEGF-inhibition, further studies have revealed that an intermittent GSI treatment plan in combination with glucocorticoids can prevent the gastrointestinal problems associated with GSI treatment [140]. In addition, a study by Wu et al. addressed the possibility of inhibiting Notch signalling using NOTCH1 and NOTCH2 specific antibodies. This approach resulted in disrupted angiogenesis and reduced tumour growth, without any observed intestinal toxicity that is associated with broad-spectrum Notch inhibitors [200]. Taking all into consideration, the development of anti-angiogenic drugs is a promising approach to cancer therapy; however, efforts to address the adverse effects associated with the treatments could increase their clinical potential.

Part III – Non-coding RNAs

Brief description

It is estimated that approximately 90% of the human genome is transcribed. To date, protein-coding genes (mRNAs) have received the majority of interest with regards to tumour biology, however account for a mere 2% of the human genome [201]. In recent years, studies have shed light on what has been hidden within the remaining 88%, leading to the discovery of a variety non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs). Based primarily on size and function, ncRNAs are divided into a number of subgroups including long non-coding RNA (lncRNA), short interfering RNA (siRNA), piwi-associated RNA (piRNA), small nucleolar RNA (snoRNA) and microRNA (miRNA) [202]. These varieties of RNAs can range from 18-300 nucleotides (nts) in length and are primarily implicated in modification and modulation of protein-coding genes [201]. Although there are many RNA subtypes that can be discussed, this thesis will focus specifically on the biogenesis and oncogenic roles of miRNAs and snoRNAs.

microRNAs

miRNA biogenesis and function

MicroRNAs are a group of small ncRNAs of approximately 22 nts in length. Typically, miRNAs are derived from the introns of both expressed protein-coding genes as well as other larger ncRNAs [203]. Originating from expressed regions of the genome, miRNAs are transcribed in a polymerase II-dependent manner, resulting in primary miRNAs (pri-miRNAs) with sizes between 500-3000 nts (Figure 5). These pri-miRNAs then undergo a number of endonuclease-dependent processing steps before giving rise to the functional 22-nucleotide miRNAs. The first step occurs in the nucleus where the pri-miRNAs are cleaved by the endonuclease DROSHA, resulting in the formation of 60-70 nt hairpin precursor miRNAs (pre-miRNAs). The pre-miRNAs are then transported from the nucleus to the cytoplasm via Exportin (XPO5). Here the pre-miRNAs are bound and processed by another endonuclease DICER1, which removes the hairpin structures and produces double stranded RNAs (miRNA-miRNA*) consisting of the functional miRNA and its complementary strand (miRNA*) [204]. Through interaction between the miRNA containing DICER1, TRBP as well as Argonaut proteins, the double-stranded miRNA is incorporated into the RNA-induced silencing (RISC) complex [205]. At this point, the RISC complex expels the complementary miRNA while retaining the functional miRNA, which now acts as a guide for the RISC complex to its targets. Guidance of the complex is a result of seed regions consisting of 2-7 nts located in the 5' end of miRNAs that are complementary to miRNA recognition elements (MREs), primarily located in the 3' UTRs of target genes [203]. Binding of the miRNA/RISC complex results in inhibition of translation or degradation of the target gene. Recent estimates indicate that approximately 60% of protein-coding genes are targeted by miRNAs [206]. In addition, individual miRNAs have been reported to have multiple targets, while at the same time individual genes can be targeted by different miRNAs [203]. The combined binding of different miRNAs may result in an additive effect on target inhibition [167,207], as is discussed in paper III.

Being a relatively new field of molecular biology, studies are emerging that change the way one must think about the function of miRNAs. Originally, miRNAs were described as fine-tuners of gene expression however a recent study has indicated that miRNAs can also function in an "all-or-nothing" manner [208]. Expression of miR-34a in colon cancer stem cells was shown to regulate a Notch activity threshold, where the presence or absence of the miRNA determined a cell's fate to differentiate or maintain its stem cell phenotype. In a study by Karreth et al. the ability for individual miRNAs to target common MREs present in different mRNAs was investigated. This led to the description of competitive endogenous RNAs (ceRNAs)



Figure 5. Simplified schematic of miRNA biogenesis and function. Upon transcription and splicing from introns the pri-miRNAs are produced. The pri-miRNAs are cleaved into pre-miRNAs by Drosha before being expelled from the nucleus via Exportin-5. Once in the cytoplasm the pre-miRNAs are bound and cleaved by Dicer, producing a double stranded miRNA-miRNA* RNA (miRNA* is complementary to the functional miRNA). Through further interaction with DICER and TRBP (amongst other proteins such as Argonaut), the double-stranded miRNA is unwound, expelling the miRNA* for degradation. The new mature miRNA-containing protein complex (RISC) is then guided to target mRNAs via seed sequences in the miRNA, resulting in translational repression and/or cleavage of the target mRNA.

adding yet another layer of complexity surrounding functional roles of miRNAs [209]. In this study Karreth and colleagues discovered common MRE sequences expressed in both ZEB2 and PTEN indicating regulation by a common miRNA. Upon ZEB2 depletion in a mouse model of melanoma, miRNA targeting of PTEN was elevated resulting in PI3K/AKT activation and an increase in tumourigenicity. In this case ZEB2 acted as a PTEN ceRNA with miRNAs being the limiting factor in the system. Another study by Helwak et al. has brought into question the rigidness of the seed sequence described to be in the 5' end of miRNAs [210]. Intriguingly, in a subset of approximately 20% of miRNA-mRNA interactions it was found that the binding was dependent on a seed sequence in miRNA's 3' end. With this in mind, previous descriptions of miRNA-target prediction systems may require updating.

miRNAs in cancer

With their ability to influence the expression and/or translation of protein-coding genes, miRNAs have been implicated, in a target-dependent manner, to have both TSG and oncogenic roles in tumour biology. In an early study of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) a deletion at 13q14 was identified. Investigation of this deleted region revealed no potential protein-encoding TSGs. The deletion did however span over two miRNAs, miR-15a and miR-16-1 [211]. This observation was one of the first indications of miRNA involvement in tumour development. Later reports also discovered mutations in both miR-15a and miR-16-1 is a subset of CLL patients, as well as an overall reduction in expression of both miRNAs in approximately 70% of all CLL patients [212]. Molecular investigation into the functional roles of miR-15a and miR-16-1 revealed their involvement in the negative regulation of BCL2 [213,214]. The combination of these studies lead to the description of the first bona fide miRNA TSGs. Since then, a multitude of miRNAs have been identified with key roles in tumour development. In general, descriptions of the tumourigenic functions miRNAs implicate their involvement in the regulation of previously identified signalling pathways with known cancer-related roles. One such example is the identification of the let-7 family of TSG miRNAs which were shown to be negative regulators of the oncogene RAS in lung, breast and prostate cancers amongst others [215,216]. In MYC-pathway dependent tumours including Burkitt's lymphoma and neuroblastoma, the miR-34 family was found to inhibit cell growth and proliferation via negative regulation of MYC/MYCN as well as E2F transcription factors [215]. In addition, in multiple malignancies including neuroblastoma, miR-34 has been shown to be involved in a positive feedback-loop with p53 [217,218]. All considered, the miR-34 family represents an additional example of miRNAs with tumour-suppressive roles. In 2006, Costinean et al. reported the development of the first solely miRNA-based transgenic mouse using overexpression of miR-155 [219]. This mouse model was a result of studies indicating elevated levels of miR-155 in a variety of B-cell lymphomas. The introduction of miR-155 transgene resulted in elevated proliferation rates of pre-B cells leading to the development of B-cell malignancy. To date, one of the most investigated families of miRNAs with oncogenic potential is the miR-17-92 cluster on chromosome 13 [220]. The miR-17-92 cluster consists of 6 miRNAs including miR-17, miR-18a, miR19a, miR19b, miR-20a and miR-92a. Early studies identified amplifications of the miR-17-92 region in B-cell lymphomas [221], which were later identified in a variety of malignancies including medulloblastoma, colon cancer, lung cancer and neuroblastoma [222]. He et al. reported contribution of the miR-17-92 cluster to the tumourigenicity of a MYC-driven mouse model of B-cell lymphoma and termed the miR-17-92 as a potential oncogene [221]. Further studies identified miR-17-92 as a direct target of MYC and MYCN where induction of miR-17-92 lead to increased tumour growth and proliferation [223,224]. Proposed mechanisms behind these

effects included miR-17-92-dependent inhibition of cell cycle inhibitors as well as inhibition of pro-apoptotic genes such as *BIM* [215].

In addition to the emerging research into the molecular biology surrounding miRNAs, studies have also addressed their diagnostic and prognostic potential. In a variety of malignancies including CLL, prostate cancer, lung cancer, and neuroblastoma, prognostic miRNA expression signatures have been developed, showing similar, if not better, results than previously reported mRNA-based signatures [212,225-228]. On the diagnostic front, Barker et al. reported the use of miRNA expression profiles to identify the primary tumour site in metastatic cases of head and neck carcinomas [229]. In addition, studies have provided evidence that circulating miRNAs are more stable than circulating mRNAs which has initiated investigation into the use of serum derived miRNA expression analysis as a diagnostic tool in prostate and gastric cancer [230,231].

snoRNAs

snoRNA biogenesis and function

The snoRNAs are a subclass of small ncRNAs with sizes varying from 60-300 nts. The majority of snoRNAs are derived from introns of protein-coding genes and to date approximately 200 have been identified [232]. Two subtypes of snoRNAs have been described; the box C/D and the box H/ACA containing snoRNAs, involved in methylation and pseudouridylation of target RNAs, respectively [201]. Upon transcription and splicing from introns, snoRNAs recruit a number of supporting proteins known as small nucleolar ribonucleoproteins (snoRNPs), with which they form a complex and are stabilized. With respect to box C/D snoRNAs, they interact with the four proteins NOP56, NOP58 SNU13 and the methyltransferase Fibrillarin (NOP1). The C/D box snoRNP complex is beyond the scope of this thesis, however more details regarding their biogenesis and functions can be found in the review by Mannoor et al [201]. The box H/ACA snoRNAs initially interact with the proteins NAF1, NHP2, NOP10 and the pseudouridine synthase DKC1 (Figure 6) [233]. NAF1 acts as a RNA-binding protein, which binds the newly synthesized snoRNA to aid in the recruitment of the other snoRNP subunits. During a maturation process however, NAF1 is replaced by GAR1 resulting in a functional snoRNP complex [234]. It has also been reported that the protein SHQ1 plays an essential role in stabilizing an otherwise unstable DKC1 during the early stages of snoRNP complex formation [234,235]. Once the mature snoRNP complex is formed, the H/ACA



Figure 6. Schematic of box H/ACA snoRNA-snoRNP complex formation. Upon transcription (and in most cases splicing from introns) of snoRNAs, the two-hairpin RNA structure interacts and is stabilized by snoRNP proteins. For typical snoRNAs, the complex consists of DKC1, GAR1, NOP10 and NHP2. The snoRNA then acts as a template for target recognition leading to pseudouridylation. In the case of the H/ACA containing TERC-snoRNP complex formation, the enzymatic protein TERT (telomerase) is also recruited. The TERC template/pseudoknot region then serves to direct the telomerase complex to telomeres on chromosome ends.

snoRNA acquires a double-hairpin configuration, with the H-box acting as the hinge between the hairpins and the ACA-box present at the 3' tail [201]. Much like seed sequences in the context of miRNAs, loops within the snoRNA-hairpin domains act as guiding sequences to position the snoRNP complex correctly on its target RNA or DNA (in the case of telomerase, discussed below) [233]. In the majority of cases the snoRNP complex targets maturing ribosomal RNA (rRNA) resulting in isomeric modifications of specific uridines in a process called pseudouridylation. Interestingly this has been reported to be the most common of all RNA modifications [236].

snoRNAs in cancer

Although many studies have focused on the biogenesis and normal functions of snoRNAs, investigations into their functional roles in cancer are limited. Multiple "guilt-by-association" studies have however reported differential expression, mutations and translocations of snoRNAs in a variety of different cancers. Examples include sequence mutations of snoRNA U50 in approximately 10% of prostate cancers and 25% of breast cancers [237,238]. Reduced expression of *GAS5* in breast cancer, which encodes 9 C/D box snoRNAs has also been reported [239]. In addition, translocations involving the *GAS5* gene were described in a subset of B-cell lymphomas [240]. In a study by Gee et al. it was found that low expression of three snoRNAs, RNU43, RNU44 and RNU48 was associated with poor prognosis in both breast cancer and head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, displaying the potential prognostic relevance of snoRNAs in the cancer setting [241].

Recently, studies have started to emerge addressing the functional roles of snoRNAs in cancer. In a paper by Mei et al., they describe a potential oncogenic role for the H/ACA box snoRNA42 where they report reduced NSCLC tumour growth both *in vitro* and *in vivo* upon snoRNA42 knockdown [242]. In addition, overexpression of snoRNA42 in human bronchial epithelial cells resulted in increased proliferation and colony formation. With the newfound interest in the roles of non-coding RNAs in tumourigenesis, it is likely that studies into the roles of specific snoRNAs will become more common in the coming years.

In addition to investigating the snoRNAs themselves, other works have investigated the roles of the supportive machinery: the snoRNPs. In a recent study, elevated levels of the C/D box associated snoRNP Fibrillarin was noted in breast cancers [243]. Upon Fibrillarin inhibition a p53-dependent cell cycle arrest was observed, which was attributed to defective ribosomal biogenesis. In addition they reported that elevated snoRNP levels interfere with stress-induced p53 activation, suggesting an anti-apoptotic and pro-tumourigenic role for snoRNPs in breast cancer. With regards to the H/ACA box snoRNPs, it has been shown that mutations in *DKC1* result in a disease known as dyskerin-congenita, which is characterized by early aging as well as an increased risk for developing cancer [244]. Interestingly, these effects have been attributed to a decrease in telomerase activity resulting in increased genetic instability. This snoRNP-telomerase is discussed in more detail below and is the main subject of paper I.

Telomerase complex

With each cell division, chromosome ends become progressively shorter, a result of imperfect DNA duplication. Blackburn and colleagues in 1978 discovered that long

repeats of the nucleotides TTAGGG existed at the ends of chromosomes, preventing the loss of important genetic information during cell divisions [245,246]. Later studies revealed that these telomeric repeats, in combination with bound Shelterin proteins, protect the chromosomes from end-to-end joining and from being recognized as double strand breaks [247]. In normal cycling cells the length of telomeres predetermines the life span of the cell, with the gradual loss of the telomere leading to senescence and/or cell death. Stem and progenitor cell populations, however, circumvent this aging process by activating a telomere maintenance program through the expression of a protein complex known as telomerase [248]. In the case of malignant cells however, both telomerase as well as a homologous-recombination based alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALT) can maintain telomere length, accounting for their limitless proliferative potential [249,250]. The telomerase complex is comprised of a protein-enzymatic subunit TERT, a telomerase RNA component (TERC) as well as the H/ACA box associated snoRNP complex including DKC1, NHP2, GAR1 and NOP10 [251]. Unlike most snoRNAs, TERC is not derived from introns of other genes, but contains its own regulatory regions [233]. TERC does however contain a box H/ACA motif that is responsible for the recruitment and binding of the snoRNP complex. In addition to the box H/ACA motif, TERC also contains an 11 nt sequence that is complimentary to the TTAGGG repeats present in telomeres. Much like the hairpin-loop sequences present in snoRNAs, this 11 nt template guides the telomerase complex to the telomere [201]. The enzymatic subunit TERT has reverse transcriptase activity and is responsible for the elongation process of the telomeres, while the snoRNPs are responsible for stabilizing TERC as well as assisting in proper docking of TERC in TERT. As mentioned above, other supportive proteins are also involved in the maintenance of telomeres including the Shelterin proteins, which induce conformational changes of the telomeres thereby protecting them from being recognized as DNA-damage. In addition, the ATPases Pontin (RUVBL1) and Reptin (RUVBL2) have been shown to facilitate in interactions between DKC1 and TERC as well as the subsequent docking with TERT. Studies have suggested that the presence of all the subunits mentioned above is required for a functional telomerase complex [252]. Deletions or mutations in primarily, but not exclusively, TERT, TERC and DKC1 have been shown to result in the dyskerin-congenita [244]. As noted previously, these patients display premature shortening of telomeres attributed to a dysfunctional telomerase complex. In addition to premature aging, patients also have an increased risk for developing a variety of malignancies [253]. This observation has been described to be a result of increased genetic instability due to a lack of telomeres. At first, a lack of telomerase activity resulting in cancer formation may seem counterintuitive considering the dependence of cancers on telomerase activity for their immortality. Recent studies from the lab of DePinho have shed light on this issue [254,255]. Using a mouse model of T-cell lymphoma they displayed that a loss of telomerase activity did indeed promote early tumour development. Due to the genetic instability of these tumours and

accompanying rapid increase of amplifications and deletions, these tumours eventually experienced cellular crisis leading to tumour regression. However, upon late re-activation of telomerase via conditional expression of *TERT*, the complex genome was re-stabilized resulting in the avoidance of cellular crisis and instead dissemination of the disease. With this in consideration, telomere maintenance can have both a tumour-suppressive role in tumour initiation as well as a tumourpromoting role in tumour progression. In the case of cancers resulting from mutations or deletions in the telomerase complex, it is possible that other mechanisms of telomere maintenance, such as ALT, are acquired to allow for disease progression [255].

Telomeres and neuroblastoma

The role of telomere maintenance in neuroblastoma is still a matter of debate. While the earliest study addressing the issue described an association between short telomeres and poor prognosis [256], more recent studies have reported a worse prognosis for patients with longer telomeres. In addition, elevated telomerase activity was observed in approximately 30% of neuroblastomas, which again was associated with shorter EFS and OS [257,258]. Another topic of controversy surrounding telomeres in neuroblastoma is the mechanism that controls telomere maintenance. Multiple studies have indicated TERT as a MYC target and correlation between MYCN and TERT expression have been reported in neuroblastoma [24,60,259-262]. In addition, TERT expression in neuroblastoma has been associated with high-stage disease [262,263]. Considering these observations and the relevance of MYC pathway activity in neuroblastoma, it seems plausible that TERT may be responsible for telomere maintenance. On the other hand, a study by Onitake et al. reports that TERT expression/telomerase activity did not correlated with telomere length in neuroblastoma and suggested that telomere length could be maintained through alternative mechanisms [250]. We report in paper I that snoRNP expression correlates with telomerase activity in neuroblastoma cell lines and primary tumours. In addition, knockdown of the enzymatic snoRNP DKC1 resulted in reduced telomerase activity and increased anaphase-bridge frequency, a phenomenon associated with loss of telomeres [264]. However, another study by Lundberg et al. observed a correlation between the presence of ALT and longer telomeres in MYCN non-amplified tumours [249]. With so many contradicting results, it is hard to draw any definitive conclusions, however studies have reported that ALT and telomerase activity are not necessarily mutually exclusive in tumour cells [265-267]. Talking all into consideration, it could be possible that multiple mechanisms of telomere maintenance are active simultaneously in neuroblastoma, or that different mechanisms could be active in a patient-subgroup dependent manner. One interesting idea comes from the newly described ATRX mutations in neuroblastoma,

which define a subgroup of older patients with a poor prognosis [26,48]. These patients, despite their poor prognosis, do not harbour *MYCN*-amplifications. In addition, *ATRX* mutations were associated with elongated telomeres [26]. Previous reports have indicated that *ATRX* mutations are commonly associated with ALT [49,50], which may provide insight into the relevance of ALT in *MYCN* non-amplified tumours reported by Lundberg and colleagues [249]. In support of this notion, the average age at diagnosis of patients defined as having long telomeres in this study was 75 months, compared to <20 months in the remaining patients, indicative of *ATRX* mutations. On the other hand, in the younger patients without *ATRX* mutations, including those with *MYCN*-amplification, mechanisms of telomere maintenance such as snoRNP regulation may be of more relevance. Future investigations into the different mechanisms of telomere maintenance in a patient subgroup-dependent manner may help clarify this debated area of neuroblastoma biology.

Part IV - Current Investigations

Papers I & II: Biology behind prognostic signatures in neuroblastoma

Background and Aims

In these studies we aimed to address several key issues regarding prognostics in neuroblastoma and the biology behind why prognostic signatures work as they do. In addition we aimed to develop a prognostic signature that could be applicable in a clinical setting on an individual patient basis. Since the development of high-throughput techniques such as gene expression microarrays, much attention has been given to defining prognostic signatures in virtually all known diseases, including neuroblastoma. The methods used to define prognostically relevant genes in neuroblastoma are quite varied across different studies. In general, prognostic genes are identified based on differential expression across clinical (stage, age at diagnosis, *MYCN* status and patient survival) or biological (MYC activity, tumour hypoxia and apoptosis) stratification. Although these methods do produce prognostically significant gene signatures that employ clinical stratifications do not address the

underlying biology and processes associated of which the signature is made. Such investigations could shed light on key processes in the progression of neuroblastoma and identify new potential therapeutic targets. The second, and possibly most important issue, is how to employ these prognostic signatures in the clinical setting. The complexity of the signatures with regards to both number of genes to analyze and equipment required to perform such analyses is one hinder that must be overcome before implication in the clinic. In addition, studies to date make use of comparing patients within large cohorts when defining different prognostic groups. Although relevant for identifying clinical groups on which future studies can be performed, such approaches provide little information when dealing with an individual patient in the clinic.

Results: Paper I

In this paper we performed a clinical stratification based on patient survival to identify genes associated with a poor prognosis. Following identification of the most prognostically relevant genes, gene ontology analysis was performed to examine the biological processes enriched in aggressive neuroblastomas. An enrichment of genes involved in the formation and functionality of the snoRNP complex was found. Backwards conditional cox regression analysis of the snoRNP related genes produced a gene signature consisting of only three central genes of the snoRNP complex: DKC1, GAR1, and NHP2. Mean gene expression values of these genes independently predicted patient prognosis when applied to all patients as well as high-risk patients alone. In order to investigate the biological role of these genes in neuroblastoma, the central snoRNP complex gene DKC1 was knocked down in neuroblastoma cell lines. Knockdown of *DKC1* resulted in reduced telomerase activity accompanied by a reduction in the RNA subunit of telomerase TERC. These effects were observed despite stable levels of TERT expression. Further investigation of neuroblastoma cells undergoing cell division displayed an increase in the formation of anaphase bridges upon DKC1 knockdown. In addition, expression of the snoRNP signature correlated with telomerase activity as well as expression of genes associated with genomic complexity in primary neuroblastoma material.

Results: Paper II

Here, using the same methodology as used in Paper I, we instead focused on genes that were associated with a good prognosis. Among genes associated with a good prognosis, an enrichment of genes involved in neuron projection and growth cone formation was found. These growth cone-associated genes as were scrutinized using backwards-conditional cox regression together with the poor prognostic genes identified in Paper I. This analysis lead to the production of a four-gene signature consisting of two genes associated with snoRNPs and two genes associated with growth cone formation. Calculation of the ratio (R-score) between the expression of the two prognostically opposing processes significantly predicted patient survival and identified an ultra-high risk group of patients amongst patients presenting with *MYCN*-amplification and/or stage 4 disease. Application of the R-score using standard qPCR-based methods of gene expression reproduced the prognostic results obtained from microarray datasets. In addition, we defined an optimal cut-off of the qPCR-based R-score that allowed for prognostic analysis on an individual patient basis.

Discussion

It has previously been described that genomic complexity and presence of segmental aberrations in neuroblastomas is associated with advanced disease and a dismal outcome for the patients [18]. High stage neuroblastomas have also been characterized by having longer telomeres, indicative of activated telomere maintenance systems [26,249,250]. Here we report that expression of genes involved in the formation of the snoRNP complex hold prognostic value in neuroblastoma and are associated with advanced disease. As discussed above in the introduction, the snoRNPs play a central role in the formation of a functional telomerase complex. In recent studies from the DePinho lab, using a T-cell lymphoma model system they describe a mechanism by which telomerase activation in advanced stages of disease allow for tumour maintenance and progression [254,255]. Briefly, the mechanism put forward by the DePinho lab suggests that early and less genetically complex tumours benefit from not having active telomerase. The resulting genetic instability allows for accumulation of genetic aberrations leading to potential increased aggressiveness of the tumour. However, there comes a point at which the genetic instability is no longer beneficial to the tumour, at which point the genome must be stabilized to prevent cellular crisis. Activation of telomerase activity, via TERT induction, provided one such method of genomic stability in aggressive tumours and resulted in disease progression in vivo [254,255]. In our study we describe an upregulation of snoRNPs in advanced stages of disease. Interestingly, multivariate analysis including snoRNP and TERT expression revealed significant association to prognosis for snoRNPs alone. This could indicate involvement of snoRNPs in genomic stabilization in neuroblastoma via a similar mechanism that in other cancer forms is attributed to TERT. In support of this, knockdown of the central snoRNP protein DKC1 resulted in diminished telomerase activity and elevated genomic instability as measured by anaphase-bridge frequency and correlation with expression of genes associated with genomic instability.

With regards to the development of prognostic gene expression signatures, there are many issues that have limited their implementation in the clinic. For example, one must minimize the complexity of the assay with regards to both the number of genes that must be analyzed as well as the platform of analysis. Although recent signature studies have made strides with regards to prognostic significance, the average number of genes included in these signatures is approximately 50 [268] and therefore require

the use of high-throughput techniques such as microarrays. In paper II we address these issues and present a prognostic signature consisting of only four genes and requiring standard qPCR analysis. By calculating the ratio of expression of two prognostically opposing processes (R-score), each process acts as an internal normalization factor for the other, therefor eliminating the need for comparison to housekeeping genes. In doing so, we address an additional hinder that must be overcome before a signature can be used in clinic; the ability to perform individual patient analyses. Without the need for housekeeping gene comparison, one no longer needs to compare values across patient cohorts, as is done in the majority of expression-based prognostic analyses. Yet another issue that must be considered is the usefulness of the prognostic signature in clinical practice, i.e. it is important that the signature provides additional information to the current classification systems. Information, such as identification of high-stage patients with a good prognosis, may strictly be indicative that the current treatment regimens are working, but would not warrant treating these patients differently. Identification of a subgroup of patients with a dismal outcome within the patients already defined as high-risk would allow for the definition of a group that, in all likelihood, will not respond to the current therapies. By defining a fixed R-score cut-off, we identified, on an individual patient basis, a subgroup of patients amongst high-risk patients with an overall survival of 20% or less. This survival rate is substantially less than the 40-50% survival rate that is currently observed amongst high-risk patients [18,20,51]. With this in consideration, we can identify a subgroup of patients that could benefit from gaining access to new therapies.

Futures perspectives

Although the R-score appears to have substantial clinical potential, a prospective study will need to be performed to determine its true value. In addition to a prospective study, there are certain standardization issues that must be considered. Although the definition of a fixed R-score allows for individual patient analyses, fluctuations in qPCR-based R-score calculations across labs and across qPCR platforms may be an issue of concern. In order to address this issue one could use a commercially available reference template as a platform control. By calculating the R-score of the reference template on each newly used qPCR platform, one can adjust the R-score cut-off accordingly and thereby minimize misclassification of patients. Such experiments should be performed on the previously examined cohorts at different laboratory centers. If the above studies produce positive results, application of the R-score has the potential to influence the current risk-stratification schemes of neuroblastoma.

Paper III: miRNA contribution to invasiveness of neuroblastoma

Background and Aims

The miR-17-92 cluster of miRNAs (miR-17, miR-18a, miR-19a, miR-19b, miR-20a and miR-921) is activated in a variety of malignancies including neuroblastoma [269]. The over-expression of miR-17-92 has been attributed to amplification of its genomic region as well as transcriptional activation by MYC and MYCN [221,223,224]. Although an oncogenic role of miR-17-92 has been reported, including regulation of proliferation and apoptosis, identification of specific targets remains limited. In addition, the studies that have addressed this issue have done so with focus on the effects of individual miRNAs of the cluster. As a result, any potential cooperation or additive effects between the miRNAs have been overlooked. In this study we aimed to investigate the global effect of miR-17-92 cluster activation in neuroblastoma and to shed light on specific targets of this family of miRNAs.

Results

We showed that the miR-17-92 cluster was expressed in a series of 95 examined neuroblastoma tumours, with highest expression in the subgroup with *MYCN*-amplification. Quantitative mass spectrometry analysis of SHEP cells with tetracycline-inducible miR-17-92 expression identified 144 significantly down-regulated proteins upon miR-17-92 activation. Among these potential targets there was an observed enrichment of 3'UTR motifs complementary to seed sequences of the miR-17-92 miRNAs (with the exception of miR18a). The number of miRNA recognition elements with target 3'UTRs correlated with the degree of protein down-regulation. This applied with regards to both the number of MREs for an individual miRNA as well as the total number of MREs for members within the miR-17-92 cluster.

In order to investigate the oncogenic pathways affected by miR-17-92 expression, gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) was employed. Processes found to be down-regulated upon miR-17-92 activation included proliferation, adhesion, TGF- β signalling, oestrogen signalling and RAS signalling. Functional analyses confirmed the effects of miR-17-92 on cellular proliferation and adhesion. In addition, miR-17-92 activation resulted in a prolonged engraftment of the non-tumourigenic SHEP cells in xenograft transplantation experiments. TGF- β pathway activity score displayed a negative correlation with *MYCN*-amplification, MYC pathway activity and miR-17-92 expression in a series of primary neuroblastoma tumours. Tetracycline-induced miR-17-92 expression in SHEP cells resulted in decreased TGF- β pathway activity as analyzed by decreased phosphorylation of SMAD2 and SMAD3 as well as reduced signal from a SMAD-regulated luciferase reporter. In addition, mRNA expression of

TGF- β pathway components (*TGFBR2*, *SMAD2* and *SMAD4*) as well as a panel of TGF- β target genes was down-regulated upon miR-17-92 activation.

Discussion

Considering that miR-17-92 is one of the most frequently activated clusters of miRNAs in cancer, relatively little is known about the specific targets and the cellular effects of the simultaneous activation of all miRNAs within the cluster. Here we identify, using high-throughput proteomics, 144 genes that are specifically down-regulated upon activation of the entire miR-17-92 cluster. Sequence analysis of these gene revealed that the frequency of 3'UTR seed sequences complementary to miR-17-92 miRNAs correlated with degree of mRNA repression. Interestingly, this applied both to the number of seeds from individual miRNAs as well multiple seeds from different miRNAs of the miR-17-92 cluster. This suggests potential cooperation and additive effects between different miRNAs with regards to the repression of their targets. With this in consideration, it is not surprising that only a limited number of miR-17-92 targets have been identified in the studies focusing on individual miRNAs.

MYCN-amplification has long been known to increase the tumourigenicity of neuroblastoma cells. As an example, in xenograft model systems, *MYCN*-amplified cell lines such as SK-N-BE(2)c and KCN readily form subcutaneous tumours, whereas MYCN non-amplified cell lines, such as the SHEP cells used in this study, are mostly non-tumourigenic. Interestingly, we report here that activation of the miR-17-92 cluster in SHEP cells results in longer engraftment periods of the injected tumour cells. Although this could be due to miR-17-92's effects on multiple pathways including previously described proliferation and apoptosis, this suggests a role for miR-17-92 in the oncogenicity of *MYCN*-amplification.

The observed enrichment of genes associated with TGF- β signalling amongst genes down-regulated by miR-17-92 activation was also intriguing. It has previously been described that TGF- β target genes *CDKN1A* and *BIM* are repressed upon miR-17-92 activation in neuroblastoma cells, resulting in heightened proliferation and repression of apoptosis [270]. Here we expand on these previous observations and display that miR-17-92 dampens TGF-beta signalling at multiple levels, both upstream and downstream of SMAD2/SMAD4 activation, including *TGFBR2* inhibition as well as additional TGF- β target genes. The ability of miR-17-92 miRNAs to target a signalling pathway at so many levels likely results in enhanced regulation of a pathway that otherwise would restrict tumour progression. It has previously been shown that activation of TGF- β signalling via TGF- β 1 stimulation of TGFBR2 results in terminal neuronal differentiation of neuroblastoma cells resulting in halted growth and loss of tumourigenicity *in vivo* [165]. These observations are corroborated by the results presented in this paper displaying inverse correlations between TGF- β pathway activity and patient prognosis, together solidifying the tumour suppressive role of TGF- β signalling in neuroblastoma. In summary, miR-17-92 activation provides insight into the mechanism by which aggressive neuroblastomas evade the tumour suppressive effects of TGF- β .

Future perspectives

Considering the tumour suppressive effects of TGF- β in neuroblastoma, miR-17-92 inhibition could be a potential therapeutic approach in aggressive neuroblastomas. As an initial step in this direction, effects of miR-17-92 inhibition/knockdown in mouse models of neuroblastoma such as TH-*MYCN* mice should be performed. In addition, in the current study we addressed the effects of miR-17-92 activation in a cellular system without *MYCN*-amplification. Although this does give insight into the specific targets of miR-17-92, this does not confirm that identical effects would be observed in the presence of *MYCN*-amplification. Considering the complexity of interplay observed between individual miRNAs of the miR-17-92 cluster, investigation of the effects of miR-17-92 inhibition in combination with *MYCN*-amplification could identify additional relevant target pathways/processes that are currently overlooked.

Paper IV: Tumour cell contribution to the angiogenic process

Background and Aims

In this study we aimed to investigate the effects that hypoxia has on the Notch pathway, and how this influences tumour biology. Previous studies have addressed the issue of hypoxia and Notch interplay, with the general consensus suggesting an elevated Notch-pathway activity in areas of low oxygen [75,178]. Although the end result is consistent, the mechanism behind elevated Notch activity remains a matter of debate. In a study by Gustafsson et al., elevated notch signalling was attributed to HIF- α recruitment to CSL-binding sites within the promoters of Notch target genes, and thereby potentiating transcriptional activation [178]. Other studies, however, have attributed the elevated Notch activity to interplays between ICN, FIH and HIFs [180,181].

Results

Using the breast cancer cell lines MCF7 and T47D, we confirmed that hypoxia (1% oxygen) resulted in elevated Notch signalling, as was determined by increased cleavage of NOTCH1 as well as up-regulation of the Notch target *HEY1*. QPCR analysis of the Notch receptors (*NOTCH1-4*) under hypoxia revealed elevated expression of *NOTCH3* alone. Analysis of the Notch ligands, on the other hand, revealed elevated

levels of all ligands, with the exception of *DLL3*. Amongst the expressed ligands, *JAG2* displayed the most consistent up-regulation and was expressed at the highest levels compared to the other ligands, and was therefore investigated further. Hypoxic induction of *JAG2* was confirmed in multiple cellular systems, including mammary epithelial cells, renal proximal tubular cells and a panel of neuroblastoma cell lines. In addition, immunohistochemical analysis of JAG2 and HIF1 α expression revealed co-localization in perinecrotic regions of ductal carcinoma *in* situ (DCIS). Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) analysis of HIF1 α revealed a potential HRE at the +1294 position of the of the *JAG2* promoter, suggesting that *JAG2* is a direct HIF target. To investigate the effects of hypoxic JAG2 induction on Notch signalling, *JAG2* knockdown experiments were performed. Upon knockdown of *JAG2* in hypoxic T47D cells, there was an observed reduction in nuclear ICN1 as well as reduced transcription of the Notch target *HEY1*.

GSEA analysis of *JAG2*-correlated genes in two global gene expression studies comprised o 200 breast cancers and 79 renal cell carcinomas, respectively, revealed enrichment of genes involved in vascular development and angiogenesis. Using a co-culture system of hypoxic T47D and MS1 cells (a mouse endothelial cell line), we examined the possible effects that tumour-*JAG2* expression could have on endothelial cell tube formation capacity. Upon knockdown of *JAG2* in T47D cells, we observed a reduced capacity of MS1 cells to form tubes when grown in Matrigel. This effect on MS1 cells was not observed in the presence of T47D (+/- JAG2) conditioned medium alone.

Discussion

As mentioned previously, the mechanisms underlying elevated Notch signalling in hypoxia remains unclear. In addition to interactions involving HIF and ICN, other studies have reported elevation of Notch ligands (*DLL1* and *DLL4*) under hypoxia [182,183]. However, these studies did not address whether the induction of ligand expression contributed to elevated Notch activity. Here we report a HIF-dependent induction of *JAG2* under hypoxia in a variety of cell types. We also demonstrate that induction of *JAG2* is a major contributor to the elevated Notch activity observed under hypoxia. Although we do demonstrate the contribution of *JAG2* in hypoxic Notch signalling, knockdown of *JAG2* did not result in complete inhibition of the elevated Notch activity. This could be attributed to residual JAG2 levels after the siRNA-mediated knockdowns. However, it could also be attributed to one of the intrinsic mechanisms of hypoxic-induced Notch activity discussed above. In addition, we did observe an elevation of *NOTCH3* under hypoxia, which according to previous studies could also contribute to hypoxic Notch signalling [271,272].

Co-culture experiments with hypoxic T47D and mouse endothelial MS1 cells revealed that knockdown of JAG2 in the T47D cells reduced the angiogenic capacity of the neighbouring MS1 cells. Interestingly, this effect was not observed when MS1

cells were exposed to T47D conditioned medium, suggesting juxtacrine signalling between tumour and endothelial cells. In the majority of the studies describing the role of Notch in angiogenesis, inhibition of Notch results in hyper-branching and an overall increase in vascular density, attributed to an overrepresentation of tip cells. In this case, the positive correlation between JAG2 expression and endothelial branching/density is indicative of an inhibitory effect on Notch signalling in the adjacent endothelial cells. Although this may seem counterintuitive, a recent study describing the opposing roles of JAG1 and DLL4 provides insight into JAG-induced Notch inhibition [118]. As discussed earlier in the introduction, Benedito et al. put forward an endothelial cell-model of angiogenesis in which DLL4 stimulation of Notch signalling produced a higher level of Notch activity than that produced by JAG1 stimulation. With the assumption that Notch receptors are limiting factors, binding of JAG1 to Notch receptors therefore acts in a competitive manner with DLL4 activation, resulting in an overall reduction in Notch activity. Considering the structural similarities between JAG1 and JAG2, it seems possible that JAG2 expression on the tumour cells in our model may be acting in a similar manner.

Future perspectives

Here we have suggested a mechanism explaining the effects of tumour cell JAG2 expression on endothelial cell branching. In order to provide further support for this model, investigation into the effects on Notch signalling within the endothelial cells must be performed. This could include a variety of approaches including Notch reporter systems as well as analysis of Notch target gene expression within the endothelial cells. The co-culture model system we have employed using human tumour cells in combination with mouse endothelial cells, allows for species-specific qPCR gene expression analysis therefore making Notch target analysis within the different cell types of the co-culture system feasible.

In addition, investigations into the effects of tumour cell JAG2 expression *in vivo* would be of interest. As a first step, stable knockdowns of *JAG2* could be produced and used in xenograft models. With this approach one could examine differences in vascular structure and density in association with JAG2-status. Although one could expect similar results to those observed *in vitro*, with *JAG2*-knockdown resulting in lower vascular density, the effects this may have on tumour growth is hard to predict. As discussed above, previous studies have shown that hyper-branching upon Notch inhibition, although resulting in increased vascular density, produced dysfunctional vessels resulting in hindered tumour growth [89]. With this in consideration, the reduced branching caused by *JAG2*-knockdown could potentially result in the formation of fewer, yet functional vessels and therefore enhance tumour growth. Delineation of such information would be crucial before considering JAG2 as a potential therapeutic target.

Application of the JAG2-model in neuroblastoma

Looking at this study from a different point of view, although hypoxic induction of IAG2 was reported in multiple cellular systems, the majority of the biological/functional analyses performed were conducted in breast cancer cells. With the focus of this thesis being on neuroblastoma, investigation into the functionality of this model in neuroblastoma cellular systems is of interest. As discussed in the introduction, it has previously been reported that Notch signalling is elevated in hypoxic neuroblastoma cells [75]. Surprisingly, although IAG2 is induced under hypoxia in neuroblastoma cells (Figure 7A), JAG2 expression did not display correlation with Notch target genes in primary neuroblastomas (Figure 7B). In addition, genes that correlated with JAG2 expression in a panel of 88 neuroblastomas were not enriched for angiogenic processes. We therefore investigated the other Notch ligands in neuroblastoma cells in order to elucidate if the ligand responsible for the hypoxic effects on Notch signalling could be cell type-dependent. Interestingly, the only other ligand found to be induced by hypoxia in the neuroblastoma cell line SK-N-BE(2)c was the delta-like ligand DLL1 (Figure 7C). Importantly, DLL1 displayed correlation with the Notch target gene HES1 in primary neuroblastomas (Figure 7D). In addition, DLL1-correlated gene expression displayed enrichment for genes involved in angiogenic processes, including endothelial cell markers CD34 and PECAM1 (CD31) (Figure 7E, F & G). These observations lead us to apply the coculture tube formation model, described in the paper IV, on neuroblastoma cells. Preliminary results revealed that upon DLL1-knockdown in hypoxic SK-N-BE(2)c cells, there was a reduced capacity of neighbouring endothelial cells to form tubes (Figure 7H & I). These results suggest that different Notch ligands may contribute to angiogenesis in a tumour cell-type dependent manner. These are however preliminary results, and further investigations (such as those described above for JAG2) must be performed before conclusions can be made regarding the role of DLL1 in neuroblastoma.



Figure 7 (previous page). DLL1 expression in neuroblastoma cells correlates with angiogenic processes and alters endothelial cell tube-forming capacity. (A, C) Boxplot of qPCR based relative JAG2 (A) and DLL1 (C) expression in SK-N-BE(2)c cells cultured in different oxygen conditions. Student's T-test p-values are provided. (B, D) Scatter plots of relative JAG2 (B) and DLL1 (D) expression in relation to HES1 in an expression array of 88 neuroblastoma tumours. (E, F) Scatter plots of relative DLL1 expression in relation to CD34 (E) and PECAM1 (F) in an expression array of 88 neuroblastoma tumours. Pearson correlations (r) and accompanying p-values are provided for all scatter plots. (G) Gene ontology analysis of DLL1-correlated genes in 88 neuroblastoma tumours. p-values and multipletesting corrected p-values (Benjamini) are provided. (H) Light microscopy images of MS1/SK-N-BE(2)c co-culture experiments. SK-N-BE(2)c cells were cultured in hypoxia for 24 hours and were pre-treated with different siRNAs (Untreated (UT), control (siC) and 2 different DLL1-targeting siRNAs) prior to mixing with MS1 cells. (I) Quantification of the number of tubes formed 8 hours post-cell mixing. Error bars represent standard deviation of 8 replicates. Co-culture experiments were carried out as described in paper IV.

Popular Science Summary

Cancer is a group of diseases that is responsible for approximately 7.5 million deaths per year, worldwide. In comparison to their surrounding environments, cancer cells typically have a much faster rate of growth, which results in the formation of a tumour. Although uncontrolled growth is sufficient to produce a physical accumulation of cells, other changes must occur in order to allow the fast growing cells to survive as well as to allow the cells to spread, a process known as "metastasis formation". This spreading of the cancer cells throughout the body is considered to be the main cause of death amongst cancer patients. In the works described in this thesis, we focus primarily on a childhood cancer known as neuroblastoma, and investigate a number of changes that happen within the tumour during its development and progression.

One of the first hinders that a tumour encounters as it starts to grow is its supply of nutrients and oxygen. In normal tissues, the present blood vessels are sufficient for delivering the nutrients and oxygen required to keep the cells alive and functioning. In a tumour, on the other hand, the rapid growth of the cancer cells often exceeds the production of new blood vessels, which results in a nutrient/oxygen shortage, a state known as hypoxia. When cancer cells encounter these oxygen shortages they respond in a number of ways to stimulate and speed up the process of blood vessel formation, ensuring oxygen delivery and their survival. In paper IV we describe one such response to low oxygen that involves the production of a protein known as JAG2. By presenting JAG2 on their surface, tumour cells physically interact with the surrounding vascular (endothelial) cells, and trigger them to start forming new vessels.

In addition to delivering oxygen and nutrients to the tumours, blood vessels also provide the tumour cells access to the patients circulation, thereby acting as highways for the tumour cells to spread. However, before the tumour cells can gain entry into the circulation, the tumour cells themselves must become motile. This can be achieved in a number of ways, most commonly of which involves physical changes to the tumour cells appearance. In paper III, we describe a method by which aggressive neuroblastoma cells maintain an "immature" physical state, which resembles that of highly motile cells present during foetal development. By maintaining this immature state, it is possible that the tumour cells are able to move through tissues and gain access to the patients' circulation, resulting in metastasis formation.

Yet another hurdle that the growing tumour cells must overcome is the fact that all cells have a limited life span. For every cell division that occurs, cells become "older". Within a cell's DNA are structures called telomeres, which essentially are representative of the cell's life span. Each time a cell divides, the telomeres become successively shorter and shorter. Once a critical length is reached, the cells' DNA is unstable, resulting in numerous breaks and degradation leading to cell death. In the case of tumour cells, they acquire methods of maintaining the length of their telomeres, thereby avoiding the aging process and instead reaching a state of limitless growth potential. In paper I, we describe a mechanism by which neuroblastomas maintain their telomeres, and show that this process is active specifically in patients with poor prognoses.

When addressing a patient's prognosis, correct classification of the patient is of utmost importance within the clinical setting. Determining the probability of a patient surviving the disease allows the clinicians to plan the treatment best suited for the patient. In the case of neuroblastoma, patients identified with non-aggressive disease typically undergo routine surgery without the need for harmful therapies such as chemotherapy and radiation therapy. Even with these mild treatment procedures, non-aggressive neuroblastoma patients survive the disease in over 90% of cases. Patients identified with aggressive disease, on the other hand, are subjected to a barrage of treatments including surgery, chemotherapy and radiation therapy amongst others. The use of such therapies, although being beneficial with regards to the patient's survival, can be extremely taxing on the patient's quality of life. In addition, despite such intense treatments, aggressive neuroblastoma patients survive the disease in less than 50% of cases. In papers I and II, we address the issue of current riskstratification of neuroblastomas and identify a sub-group of patients with an extremely bad prognosis, surviving in less than 20% of cases. In doing so, we identify patients who are in potential need of therapies outside of those currently used to treat neuroblastomas in the clinic today.

Acknowledgements

The works included in this thesis were conducted at the Department of Laboratory Medicine, Center for Molecular Pathology (Malmö) and Translational Cancer Research (Lund), Lund University, Sweden. The research was supported by grants from the Children's Cancer Foundation of Sweden, BioCARE, the Swedish Cancer Society, the Swedish Research Council, the Swedish Foundation for Strategic Research-supported Strategic Center for Translation Cancer Research, CREATE Health, the Strategic Cancer Research Program, the Gunnar Nilsson Foundation, and the research funds of Malmö University Hospital.

Håkan, I remember the first time we discussed you becoming my supervisor, and you telling me that if I needed someone who would pressure me and tell me what I should be doing, then your lab was not the place for me. From that moment, I was sold. Thank you for giving me the freedom to think on my own, and for always being there for support (and the occasional kick in the ass), both as a supervisor and a friend.

David, my time here definitely would not have been the same without you. You have taught me more than you realize when it comes to research (and critical thinking). However, it's all the "other times" that stand out most. I'm look forward to many more Tröls inspired research discussions.

Sven. Your enthusiasm when it comes to research is inspirational. And thank you for not being afraid to speak your mind.

Giuseppe, my Italian brother, Giusefforitardantinotantarinotante, this would have been a boring journey had you not been my partner in crime. Thank you for keeping me sane and putting up with my insanity. **Carro**, my lab mother, there are too many things I should thank you for. The figures. But most of all, thank you for being the most thoughtful/caring person I know. You're awesome! **Sofia**, We started this together and you've been there for me the entire way through. Thank you for picking me up and dusting me off so many times. You have kept me going straight.

To all co-authors; David L, Alexander, Sven, Ingrid, Rogier, Jan, Sam, Rosa, Marta, David G, Erik, Pieter, Frank, Jo and Katleen, thank you for your collaborations and insightful input.

To all past and present group members; Martin, Jennifer, Helén, Elinn, Emma, Christina, Anna-Karin and Jonas, thank you for all the productive discussions and suggestions.

All past and present CMP/TCR colleagues and friends, particularly Sofie M, Sofie B, Sophie, Louise, Greta, Maite, Arash, Marica, Tamae and Karin, thank you for all the help around the lab and for making it an enjoyable working environment.

Siv, Filiz, Elise, Christina and Elisabet, thank you for sharing your incredible competence around the lab. Without you I would have been lost. Kristin and Elisabeth, thank you for all your organizational and administrative help.

My friends in Sweden, especially **Samme** (and **Carro**, again), **Tobbe**, **Ellie** and **Niclas**; thank you for all the countless dinners, crazy adventures and, in general, great times! You've been my family here in Sweden!

My friends back home in Canada, particularly **Andrew** and **Dan**, thank you for always being there and for me. Whenever I'm back in town it feels like I never left.

Of course I would like thank most of all, my family; **Mom** and **Dad**, I wouldn't be where I am today without your endless support. I can't even begin to describe how grateful I am for having such amazing parents! I love you. **Karina** (Spling), you gave me my name. That's pretty big! Thanks for that. And, over all else, thank you for being my best friend. Now, feel free to comment on my grammar. **Sean**, I'm happy to call you brother.

Moops, you made Sweden my home.

Cicci, what can I say? During the writing of this thesis you have been my stability. You have helped me with every aspect of my life. You have made me a better person. Thank you for everything. Jag älskar dig.

References

[1] WHO (2013). World Health Organization Cancer Statistics, 2013.

[2] Hanahan D and Weinberg RA (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* **144**, 646-674.

[3] Henion PD and Weston JA (1997). Timing and pattern of cell fate restrictions in the neural crest lineage. *Development* **124**, 4351-4359.

[4] Reissmann E, Ernsberger U, Francis-West PH, Rueger D, Brickell PM, and Rohrer H (1996). Involvement of bone morphogenetic protein-4 and bone morphogenetic protein-7 in the differentiation of the adrenergic phenotype in developing sympathetic neurons. *Development* **122**, 2079-2088.

[5] McPherson CE, Varley JE, and Maxwell GD (2000). Expression and regulation of type I BMP receptors during early avian sympathetic ganglion development. *Developmental biology* **221**, 220-232.

[6] Howard MJ (2005). Mechanisms and perspectives on differentiation of autonomic neurons. *Developmental biology* **277**, 271-286.

[7] Schneider C, Wicht H, Enderich J, Wegner M, and Rohrer H (1999). Bone morphogenetic proteins are required in vivo for the generation of sympathetic neurons. *Neuron* **24**, 861-870.

[8] Ernsberger U, Patzke H, Tissier-Seta JP, Reh T, Goridis C, and Rohrer H (1995). The expression of tyrosine hydroxylase and the transcription factors cPhox-2 and Cash-1: evidence for distinct inductive steps in the differentiation of chick sympathetic precursor cells. *Mechanisms of development* **52**, 125-136.

[9] Ernsberger U, Reissmann E, Mason I, and Rohrer H (2000). The expression of dopamine beta-hydroxylase, tyrosine hydroxylase, and Phox2 transcription factors in

sympathetic neurons: evidence for common regulation during noradrenergic induction and diverging regulation later in development. *Mechanisms of development* **92**, 169-177.

[10] Lo LC, Johnson JE, Wuenschell CW, Saito T, and Anderson DJ (1991). Mammalian achaete-scute homolog 1 is transiently expressed by spatially restricted subsets of early neuroepithelial and neural crest cells. *Genes & development* **5**, 1524-1537.

[11] Lo L, Tiveron MC, and Anderson DJ (1998). MASH1 activates expression of the paired homeodomain transcription factor Phox2a, and couples pan-neuronal and subtype-specific components of autonomic neuronal identity. *Development* **125**, 609-620.

[12] Lo L, Morin X, Brunet JF, and Anderson DJ (1999). Specification of neurotransmitter identity by Phox2 proteins in neural crest stem cells. *Neuron* **22**, 693-705.

[13] Howard MJ, Stanke M, Schneider C, Wu X, and Rohrer H (2000). The transcription factor dHAND is a downstream effector of BMPs in sympathetic neuron specification. *Development* **127**, 4073-4081.

[14] Hoehner JC, Olsen L, Sandstedt B, Kaplan DR, and Pahlman S (1995). Association of neurotrophin receptor expression and differentiation in human neuroblastoma. *The American journal of pathology* **147**, 102-113.

[15] Pahlman S and Hoehner JC (1996). Neurotrophin receptors, tumor progression and tumor maturation. *Molecular medicine today* **2**, 432-438.

[16] Hoehner JC, Hedborg F, Eriksson L, Sandstedt B, Grimelius L, Olsen L, and Pahlman S (1998). Developmental gene expression of sympathetic nervous system tumors reflects their histogenesis. *Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology* **78**, 29-45.

[17] De Preter K, Vandesompele J, Heimann P, Yigit N, Beckman S, Schramm A, Eggert A, Stallings RL, Benoit Y, Renard M, et al. (2006). Human fetal neuroblast and neuroblastoma transcriptome analysis confirms neuroblast origin and highlights neuroblastoma candidate genes. *Genome biology* **7**, R84.

[18] Maris JM (2010). Recent advances in neuroblastoma. *The New England journal of medicine* **362**, 2202-2211.

[19] Brodeur GM (2003). Neuroblastoma: biological insights into a clinical enigma. *Nature reviews. Cancer* **3**, 203-216.

[20] Maris JM, Hogarty MD, Bagatell R, and Cohn SL (2007). Neuroblastoma. *Lancet* **369**, 2106-2120.

[21] Anderson DJ and Axel R (1986). A bipotential neuroendocrine precursor whose choice of cell fate is determined by NGF and glucocorticoids. *Cell* **47**, 1079-1090.

[22] Anderson DJ, Carnahan JF, Michelsohn A, and Patterson PH (1991). Antibody markers identify a common progenitor to sympathetic neurons and chromaffin cells in vivo and reveal the timing of commitment to neuronal differentiation in the sympathoadrenal lineage. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* **11**, 3507-3519.

[23] Hoehner JC, Gestblom C, Hedborg F, Sandstedt B, Olsen L, and Pahlman S (1996). A developmental model of neuroblastoma: differentiating stroma-poor tumors' progress along an extra-adrenal chromaffin lineage. *Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology* **75**, 659-675.

[24] Fredlund E, Ringner M, Maris JM, and Pahlman S (2008). High Myc pathway activity and low stage of neuronal differentiation associate with poor outcome in neuroblastoma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **105**, 14094-14099.

[25] Kogner P, Barbany G, Dominici C, Castello MA, Raschella G, and Persson H (1993). Coexpression of messenger RNA for TRK protooncogene and low affinity nerve growth factor receptor in neuroblastoma with favorable prognosis. *Cancer research* **53**, 2044-2050.

[26] Cheung NK, Zhang J, Lu C, Parker M, Bahrami A, Tickoo SK, Heguy A, Pappo AS, Federico S, Dalton J, et al. (2012). Association of age at diagnosis and genetic mutations in patients with neuroblastoma. *JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association* **307**, 1062-1071.

[27] Pugh TJ, Morozova O, Attiyeh EF, Asgharzadeh S, Wei JS, Auclair D, Carter SL, Cibulskis K, Hanna M, Kiezun A, et al. (2013). The genetic landscape of high-risk neuroblastoma. *Nature genetics* **45**, 279-284.

[28] Clausen N, Andersson P, and Tommerup N (1989). Familial occurrence of neuroblastoma, von Recklinghausen's neurofibromatosis, Hirschsprung's agangliosis and jaw-winking syndrome. *Acta paediatrica Scandinavica* **78**, 736-741.

[29] Knudson AG, Jr. and Strong LC (1972). Mutation and cancer: neuroblastoma and pheochromocytoma. *American journal of human genetics* **24**, 514-532.

[30] Maris JM, Weiss MJ, Mosse Y, Hii G, Guo C, White PS, Hogarty MD, Mirensky T, Brodeur GM, Rebbeck TR, et al. (2002). Evidence for a hereditary neuroblastoma predisposition locus at chromosome 16p12-13. *Cancer research* **62**, 6651-6658.

[31] Trochet D, Bourdeaut F, Janoueix-Lerosey I, Deville A, de Pontual L, Schleiermacher G, Coze C, Philip N, Frebourg T, Munnich A, et al. (2004). Germline mutations of the paired-like homeobox 2B (PHOX2B) gene in neuroblastoma. *American journal of human genetics* **74**, 761-764.

[32] Goridis C and Rohrer H (2002). Specification of catecholaminergic and serotonergic neurons. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience* **3**, 531-541.

[33] Mosse YP, Laudenslager M, Longo L, Cole KA, Wood A, Attiyeh EF, Laquaglia MJ, Sennett R, Lynch JE, Perri P, et al. (2008). Identification of ALK as a major familial neuroblastoma predisposition gene. *Nature* **455**, 930-935.

[34] Janoueix-Lerosey I, Lequin D, Brugieres L, Ribeiro A, de Pontual L, Combaret V, Raynal V, Puisieux A, Schleiermacher G, Pierron G, et al. (2008). Somatic and germline activating mutations of the ALK kinase receptor in neuroblastoma. *Nature* **455**, 967-970.

[35] Caren H, Abel F, Kogner P, and Martinsson T (2008). High incidence of DNA mutations and gene amplifications of the ALK gene in advanced sporadic neuroblastoma tumours. *The Biochemical journal* **416**, 153-159.

[36] Bachetti T, Di Paolo D, Di Lascio S, Mirisola V, Brignole C, Bellotti M, Caffa I, Ferraris C, Fiore M, Fornasari D, et al. (2010). PHOX2B-mediated regulation of ALK expression: in vitro identification of a functional relationship between two genes involved in neuroblastoma. *PloS one* **5**.

[37] Kohl NE, Kanda N, Schreck RR, Bruns G, Latt SA, Gilbert F, and Alt FW (1983). Transposition and amplification of oncogene-related sequences in human neuroblastomas. *Cell* **35**, 359-367.
[38] Schwab M, Alitalo K, Klempnauer KH, Varmus HE, Bishop JM, Gilbert F, Brodeur G, Goldstein M, and Trent J (1983). Amplified DNA with limited homology to myc cellular oncogene is shared by human neuroblastoma cell lines and a neuroblastoma tumour. *Nature* **305**, 245-248.

[39] Brodeur GM, Seeger RC, Schwab M, Varmus HE, and Bishop JM (1984). Amplification of N-myc in untreated human neuroblastomas correlates with advanced disease stage. *Science* **224**, 1121-1124.

[40] Schwab M, Ellison J, Busch M, Rosenau W, Varmus HE, and Bishop JM (1984). Enhanced expression of the human gene N-myc consequent to amplification of DNA may contribute to malignant progression of neuroblastoma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **81**, 4940-4944.

[41] Patel JH, Loboda AP, Showe MK, Showe LC, and McMahon SB (2004). Analysis of genomic targets reveals complex functions of MYC. *Nature reviews. Cancer* **4**, 562-568.

[42] Grimmer MR and Weiss WA (2006). Childhood tumors of the nervous system as disorders of normal development. *Current opinion in pediatrics* **18**, 634-638.

[43] Smith AG, Popov N, Imreh M, Axelson H, and Henriksson M (2004). Expression and DNA-binding activity of MYCN/Max and Mnt/Max during induced differentiation of human neuroblastoma cells. *Journal of cellular biochemistry* **92**, 1282-1295.

[44] Nara K, Kusafuka T, Yoneda A, Oue T, Sangkhathat S, and Fukuzawa M (2007). Silencing of MYCN by RNA interference induces growth inhibition, apoptotic activity and cell differentiation in a neuroblastoma cell line with MYCN amplification. *International journal of oncology* **30**, 1189-1196.

[45] Weiss WA, Aldape K, Mohapatra G, Feuerstein BG, and Bishop JM (1997). Targeted expression of MYCN causes neuroblastoma in transgenic mice. *The EMBO journal* **16**, 2985-2995.

[46] Zhu S, Lee JS, Guo F, Shin J, Perez-Atayde AR, Kutok JL, Rodig SJ, Neuberg DS, Helman D, Feng H, et al. (2012). Activated ALK collaborates with MYCN in neuroblastoma pathogenesis. *Cancer cell* **21**, 362-373.

[47] Berry T, Luther W, Bhatnagar N, Jamin Y, Poon E, Sanda T, Pei D, Sharma B, Vetharoy WR, Hallsworth A, et al. (2012). The ALK(F1174L) mutation potentiates the oncogenic activity of MYCN in neuroblastoma. *Cancer cell* **22**, 117-130.

[48] Molenaar JJ, Koster J, Zwijnenburg DA, van Sluis P, Valentijn LJ, van der Ploeg I, Hamdi M, van Nes J, Westerman BA, van Arkel J, et al. (2012). Sequencing of neuroblastoma identifies chromothripsis and defects in neuritogenesis genes. *Nature* **483**, 589-593.

[49] Clynes D, Higgs DR, and Gibbons RJ (2013). The chromatin remodeller ATRX: a repeat offender in human disease. *Trends in biochemical sciences*.

[50] Abedalthagafi M, Phillips JJ, Kim GE, Mueller S, Haas-Kogen DA, Marshall RE, Croul SE, Santi MR, Cheng J, Zhou S, et al. (2013). The alternative lengthening of telomere phenotype is significantly associated with loss of ATRX expression in high-grade pediatric and adult astrocytomas: a multi-institutional study of 214 astrocytomas. *Modern pathology : an official journal of the United States and Canadian Academy of Pathology, Inc.*

[51] Cheung NK and Dyer MA (2013). Neuroblastoma: developmental biology, cancer genomics and immunotherapy. *Nature reviews. Cancer* **13**, 397-411.

[52] Schleiermacher G, Janoueix-Lerosey I, Ribeiro A, Klijanienko J, Couturier J, Pierron G, Mosseri V, Valent A, Auger N, Plantaz D, et al. (2010). Accumulation of segmental alterations determines progression in neuroblastoma. *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* **28**, 3122-3130.

[53] Stephens PJ, Greenman CD, Fu B, Yang F, Bignell GR, Mudie LJ, Pleasance ED, Lau KW, Beare D, Stebbings LA, et al. (2011). Massive genomic rearrangement acquired in a single catastrophic event during cancer development. *Cell* **144**, 27-40.

[54] London WB, Castleberry RP, Matthay KK, Look AT, Seeger RC, Shimada H, Thorner P, Brodeur G, Maris JM, Reynolds CP, et al. (2005). Evidence for an age cutoff greater than 365 days for neuroblastoma risk group stratification in the Children's Oncology Group. *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* **23**, 6459-6465.

[55] Schmidt ML, Lal A, Seeger RC, Maris JM, Shimada H, O'Leary M, Gerbing RB, and Matthay KK (2005). Favorable prognosis for patients 12 to 18

months of age with stage 4 nonamplified MYCN neuroblastoma: a Children's Cancer Group Study. *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* **23**, 6474-6480.

[56] Cohn SL, Pearson AD, London WB, Monclair T, Ambros PF, Brodeur GM, Faldum A, Hero B, Iehara T, Machin D, et al. (2009). The International Neuroblastoma Risk Group (INRG) classification system: an INRG Task Force report. *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* **27**, 289-297.

[57] Monclair T, Brodeur GM, Ambros PF, Brisse HJ, Cecchetto G, Holmes K, Kaneko M, London WB, Matthay KK, Nuchtern JG, et al. (2009). The International Neuroblastoma Risk Group (INRG) staging system: an INRG Task Force report. *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* **27**, 298-303.

[58] Look AT, Hayes FA, Nitschke R, McWilliams NB, and Green AA (1984). Cellular DNA content as a predictor of response to chemotherapy in infants with unresectable neuroblastoma. *The New England journal of medicine* **311**, 231-235.

[59] Cohn SL, London WB, Huang D, Katzenstein HM, Salwen HR, Reinhart T, Madafiglio J, Marshall GM, Norris MD, and Haber M (2000). MYCN expression is not prognostic of adverse outcome in advanced-stage neuroblastoma with nonamplified MYCN. *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* **18**, 3604-3613.

[60] Valentijn LJ, Koster J, Haneveld F, Aissa RA, van Sluis P, Broekmans ME, Molenaar JJ, van Nes J, and Versteeg R (2012). Functional MYCN signature predicts outcome of neuroblastoma irrespective of MYCN amplification. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **109**, 19190-19195.

[61] Asgharzadeh S, Pique-Regi R, Sposto R, Wang H, Yang Y, Shimada H, Matthay K, Buckley J, Ortega A, and Seeger RC (2006). Prognostic significance of gene expression profiles of metastatic neuroblastomas lacking MYCN gene amplification. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* **98**, 1193-1203.

[62] Benard J, Raguenez G, Kauffmann A, Valent A, Ripoche H, Joulin V, Job B, Danglot G, Cantais S, Robert T, et al. (2008). MYCN-non-amplified metastatic neuroblastoma with good prognosis and spontaneous regression: a molecular portrait of stage 4S. *Molecular oncology* **2**, 261-271.

[63] Fredlund E, Ovenberger M, Borg K, and Pahlman S (2008). Transcriptional adaptation of neuroblastoma cells to hypoxia. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **366**, 1054-1060.

[64] Oberthuer A, Berthold F, Warnat P, Hero B, Kahlert Y, Spitz R, Ernestus K, Konig R, Haas S, Eils R, et al. (2006). Customized oligonucleotide microarray gene expression-based classification of neuroblastoma patients outperforms current clinical risk stratification. *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* **24**, 5070-5078.

[65] Vermeulen J, De Preter K, Naranjo A, Vercruysse L, Van Roy N, Hellemans J, Swerts K, Bravo S, Scaruffi P, Tonini GP, et al. (2009). Predicting outcomes for children with neuroblastoma using a multigene-expression signature: a retrospective SIOPEN/COG/GPOH study. *The lancet oncology* **10**, 663-671.

[66] Matthay KK, Reynolds CP, Seeger RC, Shimada H, Adkins ES, Haas-Kogan D, Gerbing RB, London WB, and Villablanca JG (2009). Long-term results for children with high-risk neuroblastoma treated on a randomized trial of myeloablative therapy followed by 13-cis-retinoic acid: a children's oncology group study. *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* **27**, 1007-1013.

[67] Hockel M and Vaupel P (2001). Tumor hypoxia: definitions and current clinical, biologic, and molecular aspects. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* **93**, 266-276.

[68] Thomlinson RH (1977). Hypoxia and tumours. *Journal of clinical pathology. Supplement* **11**, 105-113.

[69] Forsythe JA, Jiang BH, Iyer NV, Agani F, Leung SW, Koos RD, and Semenza GL (1996). Activation of vascular endothelial growth factor gene transcription by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *Molecular and cellular biology* **16**, 4604-4613.

[70] Harris AL (2002). Hypoxia--a key regulatory factor in tumour growth. *Nature reviews. Cancer* **2**, 38-47.

[71] Holmquist-Mengelbier L, Fredlund E, Lofstedt T, Noguera R, Navarro S, Nilsson H, Pietras A, Vallon-Christersson J, Borg A, Gradin K, et al. (2006). Recruitment of HIF-1alpha and HIF-2alpha to common target genes is differentially

regulated in neuroblastoma: HIF-2alpha promotes an aggressive phenotype. *Cancer cell* **10**, 413-423.

[72] Vaupel P, Kallinowski F, and Okunieff P (1989). Blood flow, oxygen and nutrient supply, and metabolic microenvironment of human tumors: a review. *Cancer research* **49**, 6449-6465.

[73] Carmeliet P and Jain RK (2000). Angiogenesis in cancer and other diseases. *Nature* **407**, 249-257.

[74] Gatenby RA and Gillies RJ (2004). Why do cancers have high aerobic glycolysis? *Nature reviews. Cancer* **4**, 891-899.

[75] Jogi A, Ora I, Nilsson H, Lindeheim A, Makino Y, Poellinger L, Axelson H, and Pahlman S (2002). Hypoxia alters gene expression in human neuroblastoma cells toward an immature and neural crest-like phenotype. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **99**, 7021-7026.

[76] Rankin EB and Giaccia AJ (2008). The role of hypoxia-inducible factors in tumorigenesis. *Cell death and differentiation* **15**, 678-685.

[77] Semenza GL (2003). Targeting HIF-1 for cancer therapy. *Nature reviews. Cancer* **3**, 721-732.

[78] Ruan K, Song G, and Ouyang G (2009). Role of hypoxia in the hallmarks of human cancer. *Journal of cellular biochemistry* **107**, 1053-1062.

[79] Semenza GL and Wang GL (1992). A nuclear factor induced by hypoxia via de novo protein synthesis binds to the human erythropoietin gene enhancer at a site required for transcriptional activation. *Molecular and cellular biology* **12**, 5447-5454.

[80] Tian H, McKnight SL, and Russell DW (1997). Endothelial PAS domain protein 1 (EPAS1), a transcription factor selectively expressed in endothelial cells. *Genes & development* 11, 72-82.

[81] Makino Y, Cao R, Svensson K, Bertilsson G, Asman M, Tanaka H, Cao Y, Berkenstam A, and Poellinger L (2001). Inhibitory PAS domain protein is a negative regulator of hypoxia-inducible gene expression. *Nature* **414**, 550-554.

[82] Ivan M, Kondo K, Yang H, Kim W, Valiando J, Ohh M, Salic A, Asara JM, Lane WS, and Kaelin WG, Jr. (2001). HIFalpha targeted for VHL-mediated destruction by proline hydroxylation: implications for O2 sensing. *Science* **292**, 464-468.

[83] Jaakkola P, Mole DR, Tian YM, Wilson MI, Gielbert J, Gaskell SJ, von Kriegsheim A, Hebestreit HF, Mukherji M, Schofield CJ, et al. (2001). Targeting of HIF-alpha to the von Hippel-Lindau ubiquitylation complex by O2-regulated prolyl hydroxylation. *Science* **292**, 468-472.

[84] Schofield CJ and Ratcliffe PJ (2004). Oxygen sensing by HIF hydroxylases. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology* **5**, 343-354.

[85] Lando D, Peet DJ, Gorman JJ, Whelan DA, Whitelaw ML, and Bruick RK (2002). FIH-1 is an asparaginyl hydroxylase enzyme that regulates the transcriptional activity of hypoxia-inducible factor. *Genes & development* **16**, 1466-1471.

[86] Hu CJ, Wang LY, Chodosh LA, Keith B, and Simon MC (2003). Differential roles of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha (HIF-1alpha) and HIF-2alpha in hypoxic gene regulation. *Molecular and cellular biology* **23**, 9361-9374.

[87] Brown JM and Wilson WR (2004). Exploiting tumour hypoxia in cancer treatment. *Nature reviews. Cancer* **4**, 437-447.

[88] Semenza GL (2010). Defining the role of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 in cancer biology and therapeutics. *Oncogene* **29**, 625-634.

[89] Weidner N (2002). New paradigm for vessel intravasation by tumor cells. *The American journal of pathology* **160**, 1937-1939.

[90] Wu M, Frieboes HB, McDougall SR, Chaplain MA, Cristini V, and Lowengrub J (2013). The effect of interstitial pressure on tumor growth: coupling with the blood and lymphatic vascular systems. *Journal of theoretical biology* **320**, 131-151.

[91] Norris MD, Bordow SB, Marshall GM, Haber PS, Cohn SL, and Haber M (1996). Expression of the gene for multidrug-resistance-associated protein and outcome in patients with neuroblastoma. *The New England journal of medicine* **334**, 231-238.

[92] Henderson MJ, Haber M, Porro A, Munoz MA, Iraci N, Xue C, Murray J, Flemming CL, Smith J, Fletcher JI, et al. (2011). ABCC multidrug transporters in childhood neuroblastoma: clinical and biological effects independent of cytotoxic drug efflux. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* **103**, 1236-1251.

[93] Ward PS and Thompson CB (2012). Metabolic reprogramming: a cancer hallmark even warburg did not anticipate. *Cancer cell* **21**, 297-308.

[94] Swietach P, Vaughan-Jones RD, and Harris AL (2007). Regulation of tumor pH and the role of carbonic anhydrase 9. *Cancer metastasis reviews* **26**, 299-310.

[95] Mimeault M and Batra SK (2013). Hypoxia-inducing factors as master regulators of stemness properties and altered metabolism of cancer- and metastasis-initiating cells. *Journal of cellular and molecular medicine* **17**, 30-54.

[96] Kaelin WG, Jr. (2002). Molecular basis of the VHL hereditary cancer syndrome. *Nature reviews. Cancer* **2**, 673-682.

[97] Kaelin WG (2007). Von Hippel-Lindau disease. *Annual review of pathology* **2**, 145-173.

[98] Raval RR, Lau KW, Tran MG, Sowter HM, Mandriota SJ, Li JL, Pugh CW, Maxwell PH, Harris AL, and Ratcliffe PJ (2005). Contrasting properties of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF-1) and HIF-2 in von Hippel-Lindau-associated renal cell carcinoma. *Molecular and cellular biology* **25**, 5675-5686.

[99] Maxwell PH, Wiesener MS, Chang GW, Clifford SC, Vaux EC, Cockman ME, Wykoff CC, Pugh CW, Maher ER, and Ratcliffe PJ (1999). The tumour suppressor protein VHL targets hypoxia-inducible factors for oxygen-dependent proteolysis. *Nature* **399**, 271-275.

[100] Kondo K, Kim WY, Lechpammer M, and Kaelin WG, Jr. (2003). Inhibition of HIF2alpha is sufficient to suppress pVHL-defective tumor growth. *PLoS biology* **1**, E83.

[101] Nilsson H, Jogi A, Beckman S, Harris AL, Poellinger L, and Pahlman S (2005). HIF-2alpha expression in human fetal paraganglia and neuroblastoma: relation to sympathetic differentiation, glucose deficiency, and hypoxia. *Experimental cell research* **303**, 447-456.

[102] Mohlin S, Hamidian A, and Pahlman S (2013). HIF2A and IGF2 expression correlates in human neuroblastoma cells and normal immature sympathetic neuroblasts. *Neoplasia* **15**, 328-334.

[103] Tian H, Hammer RE, Matsumoto AM, Russell DW, and McKnight SL (1998). The hypoxia-responsive transcription factor EPAS1 is essential for catecholamine homeostasis and protection against heart failure during embryonic development. *Genes & development* 12, 3320-3324.

[104] Pietras A, Gisselsson D, Ora I, Noguera R, Beckman S, Navarro S, and Pahlman S (2008). High levels of HIF-2alpha highlight an immature neural crest-like neuroblastoma cell cohort located in a perivascular niche. *The Journal of pathology* **214**, 482-488.

[105] Pietras A, Hansford LM, Johnsson AS, Bridges E, Sjolund J, Gisselsson D, Rehn M, Beckman S, Noguera R, Navarro S, et al. (2009). HIF-2alpha maintains an undifferentiated state in neural crest-like human neuroblastoma tumor-initiating cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**, 16805-16810.

[106] Bray SJ (2006). Notch signalling: a simple pathway becomes complex. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology* **7**, 678-689.

[107] Doroquez DB and Rebay I (2006). Signal integration during development: mechanisms of EGFR and Notch pathway function and cross-talk. *Critical reviews in biochemistry and molecular biology* **41**, 339-385.

[108] Artavanis-Tsakonas S, Rand MD, and Lake RJ (1999). Notch signaling: cell fate control and signal integration in development. *Science* **284**, 770-776.

[109] Ehebauer M, Hayward P, and Martinez-Arias A (2006). Notch signaling pathway. *Science's STKE : signal transduction knowledge environment* **2006**, cm7.

[110] Guruharsha KG, Kankel MW, and Artavanis-Tsakonas S (2012). The Notch signalling system: recent insights into the complexity of a conserved pathway. *Nature reviews. Genetics* **13**, 654-666.

[111] Fiuza UM and Arias AM (2007). Cell and molecular biology of Notch. *The Journal of endocrinology* **194**, 459-474.

[112] Ilagan MX and Kopan R (2007). SnapShot: notch signaling pathway. *Cell* **128**, 1246.

[113] Selkoe DJ and Wolfe MS (2007). Presenilin: running with scissors in the membrane. *Cell* **131**, 215-221.

[114] Jarriault S, Brou C, Logeat F, Schroeter EH, Kopan R, and Israel A (1995). Signalling downstream of activated mammalian Notch. *Nature* **377**, 355-358.

[115] Wu L, Aster JC, Blacklow SC, Lake R, Artavanis-Tsakonas S, and Griffin JD (2000). MAML1, a human homologue of Drosophila mastermind, is a transcriptional co-activator for NOTCH receptors. *Nature genetics* **26**, 484-489.

[116] Fischer A and Gessler M (2007). Delta-Notch--and then? Protein interactions and proposed modes of repression by Hes and Hey bHLH factors. *Nucleic acids research* **35**, 4583-4596.

[117] Cui XY, Hu QD, Tekaya M, Shimoda Y, Ang BT, Nie DY, Sun L, Hu WP, Karsak M, Duka T, et al. (2004). NB-3/Notch1 pathway via Deltex1 promotes neural progenitor cell differentiation into oligodendrocytes. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **279**, 25858-25865.

[118] Benedito R, Roca C, Sorensen I, Adams S, Gossler A, Fruttiger M, and Adams RH (2009). The notch ligands Dll4 and Jagged1 have opposing effects on angiogenesis. *Cell* **137**, 1124-1135.

[119] Sheldon H, Heikamp E, Turley H, Dragovic R, Thomas P, Oon CE, Leek R, Edelmann M, Kessler B, Sainson RC, et al. (2010). New mechanism for Notch signaling to endothelium at a distance by Delta-like 4 incorporation into exosomes. *Blood* **116**, 2385-2394.

[120] Small D, Kovalenko D, Kacer D, Liaw L, Landriscina M, Di Serio C, Prudovsky I, and Maciag T (2001). Soluble Jagged 1 represses the function of its transmembrane form to induce the formation of the Src-dependent chord-like phenotype. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **276**, 32022-32030.

[121] Hoyne GF, Chapman G, Sontani Y, Pursglove SE, and Dunwoodie SL (2011). A cell autonomous role for the Notch ligand Delta-like 3 in alphabeta T-cell development. *Immunology and cell biology* **89**, 696-705.

[122] Martinez Arias A, Zecchini V, and Brennan K (2002). CSL-independent Notch signalling: a checkpoint in cell fate decisions during development? *Current opinion in genetics & development* **12**, 524-533.

[123] Hodkinson PS, Elliott PA, Lad Y, McHugh BJ, MacKinnon AC, Haslett C, and Sethi T (2007). Mammalian NOTCH-1 activates beta1 integrins via the small GTPase R-Ras. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **282**, 28991-29001.

[124] Veeraraghavalu K, Subbaiah VK, Srivastava S, Chakrabarti O, Syal R, and Krishna S (2005). Complementation of human papillomavirus type 16 E6 and E7 by Jagged1-specific Notch1-phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling involves pleiotropic oncogenic functions independent of CBF1;Su(H);Lag-1 activation. *Journal of virology* **79**, 7889-7898.

[125] Sjolund J, Bostrom AK, Lindgren D, Manna S, Moustakas A, Ljungberg B, Johansson M, Fredlund E, and Axelson H (2011). The notch and TGF-beta signaling pathways contribute to the aggressiveness of clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *PloS one* **6**, e23057.

[126] Ellisen LW, Bird J, West DC, Soreng AL, Reynolds TC, Smith SD, and Sklar J (1991). TAN-1, the human homolog of the Drosophila notch gene, is broken by chromosomal translocations in T lymphoblastic neoplasms. *Cell* **66**, 649-661.

[127] Weijzen S, Rizzo P, Braid M, Vaishnav R, Jonkheer SM, Zlobin A, Osborne BA, Gottipati S, Aster JC, Hahn WC, et al. (2002). Activation of Notch-1 signaling maintains the neoplastic phenotype in human Ras-transformed cells. *Nature medicine* **8**, 979-986.

[128] Lefort K, Mandinova A, Ostano P, Kolev V, Calpini V, Kolfschoten I, Devgan V, Lieb J, Raffoul W, Hohl D, et al. (2007). Notch1 is a p53 target gene involved in human keratinocyte tumor suppression through negative regulation of ROCK1/2 and MRCKalpha kinases. *Genes & development* **21**, 562-577.

[129] Fan X, Mikolaenko I, Elhassan I, Ni X, Wang Y, Ball D, Brat DJ, Perry A, and Eberhart CG (2004). Notch1 and notch2 have opposite effects on embryonal brain tumor growth. *Cancer research* **64**, 7787-7793.

[130] Weng AP, Ferrando AA, Lee W, Morris JPt, Silverman LB, Sanchez-Irizarry C, Blacklow SC, Look AT, and Aster JC (2004). Activating mutations of NOTCH1 in human T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Science* **306**, 269-271. [131] Parr C, Watkins G, and Jiang WG (2004). The possible correlation of Notch-1 and Notch-2 with clinical outcome and tumour clinicopathological parameters in human breast cancer. *International journal of molecular medicine* 14, 779-786.

[132] Reedijk M, Odorcic S, Chang L, Zhang H, Miller N, McCready DR, Lockwood G, and Egan SE (2005). High-level coexpression of JAG1 and NOTCH1 is observed in human breast cancer and is associated with poor overall survival. *Cancer research* **65**, 8530-8537.

[133] Pece S, Serresi M, Santolini E, Capra M, Hulleman E, Galimberti V, Zurrida S, Maisonneuve P, Viale G, and Di Fiore PP (2004). Loss of negative regulation by Numb over Notch is relevant to human breast carcinogenesis. *The Journal of cell biology* **167**, 215-221.

[134] Bolos V, Grego-Bessa J, and de la Pompa JL (2007). Notch signaling in development and cancer. *Endocrine reviews* **28**, 339-363.

[135] Di Marcotullio L, Ferretti E, Greco A, De Smaele E, Po A, Sico MA, Alimandi M, Giannini G, Maroder M, Screpanti I, et al. (2006). Numb is a suppressor of Hedgehog signalling and targets Gli1 for Itch-dependent ubiquitination. *Nature cell biology* **8**, 1415-1423.

[136] Fan X, Matsui W, Khaki L, Stearns D, Chun J, Li YM, and Eberhart CG (2006). Notch pathway inhibition depletes stem-like cells and blocks engraftment in embryonal brain tumors. *Cancer research* **66**, 7445-7452.

[137] Nicolas M, Wolfer A, Raj K, Kummer JA, Mill P, van Noort M, Hui CC, Clevers H, Dotto GP, and Radtke F (2003). Notch1 functions as a tumor suppressor in mouse skin. *Nature genetics* **33**, 416-421.

[138] Koch U and Radtke F (2007). Notch and cancer: a double-edged sword. *Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS* **64**, 2746-2762.

[139] Milano J, McKay J, Dagenais C, Foster-Brown L, Pognan F, Gadient R, Jacobs RT, Zacco A, Greenberg B, and Ciaccio PJ (2004). Modulation of notch processing by gamma-secretase inhibitors causes intestinal goblet cell metaplasia and induction of genes known to specify gut secretory lineage differentiation. *Toxicological sciences : an official journal of the Society of Toxicology* **82**, 341-358.

[140] Wei P, Walls M, Qiu M, Ding R, Denlinger RH, Wong A, Tsaparikos K, Jani JP, Hosea N, Sands M, et al. (2010). Evaluation of selective gamma-secretase inhibitor PF-03084014 for its antitumor efficacy and gastrointestinal safety to guide optimal clinical trial design. *Molecular cancer therapeutics* **9**, 1618-1628.

[141] Sjolund J, Johansson M, Manna S, Norin C, Pietras A, Beckman S, Nilsson E, Ljungberg B, and Axelson H (2008). Suppression of renal cell carcinoma growth by inhibition of Notch signaling in vitro and in vivo. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **118**, 217-228.

[142] Funahashi Y, Hernandez SL, Das I, Ahn A, Huang J, Vorontchikhina M, Sharma A, Kanamaru E, Borisenko V, Desilva DM, et al. (2008). A notch1 ectodomain construct inhibits endothelial notch signaling, tumor growth, and angiogenesis. *Cancer research* **68**, 4727-4735.

[143] Lindsell CE, Boulter J, diSibio G, Gossler A, and Weinmaster G (1996). Expression patterns of Jagged, Delta1, Notch1, Notch2, and Notch3 genes identify ligand-receptor pairs that may function in neural development. *Molecular and cellular neurosciences* **8**, 14-27.

[144] Tsarovina K, Schellenberger J, Schneider C, and Rohrer H (2008). Progenitor cell maintenance and neurogenesis in sympathetic ganglia involves Notch signaling. *Molecular and cellular neurosciences* **37**, 20-31.

[145] Ishibashi M, Ang SL, Shiota K, Nakanishi S, Kageyama R, and Guillemot F (1995). Targeted disruption of mammalian hairy and Enhancer of split homolog-1 (HES-1) leads to up-regulation of neural helix-loop-helix factors, premature neurogenesis, and severe neural tube defects. *Genes & development* **9**, 3136-3148.

[146] Liao YF, Wang BJ, Hsu WM, Lee H, Liao CY, Wu SY, Cheng HT, and Hu MK (2007). Unnatural amino acid-substituted (hydroxyethyl)urea peptidomimetics inhibit gamma-secretase and promote the neuronal differentiation of neuroblastoma cells. *Molecular pharmacology* **71**, 588-601.

[147] Grynfeld A, Pahlman S, and Axelson H (2000). Induced neuroblastoma cell differentiation, associated with transient HES-1 activity and reduced HASH-1 expression, is inhibited by Notch1. *International journal of cancer. Journal international du cancer* **88**, 401-410.

[148] Schmierer B and Hill CS (2007). TGFbeta-SMAD signal transduction: molecular specificity and functional flexibility. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology* **8**, 970-982.

[149] Massague J and Gomis RR (2006). The logic of TGFbeta signaling. *FEBS letters* **580**, 2811-2820.

[150] Shi Y and Massague J (2003). Mechanisms of TGF-beta signaling from cell membrane to the nucleus. *Cell* **113**, 685-700.

[151] Chen T, Carter D, Garrigue-Antar L, and Reiss M (1998). Transforming growth factor beta type I receptor kinase mutant associated with metastatic breast cancer. *Cancer research* **58**, 4805-4810.

[152] Grady WM, Myeroff LL, Swinler SE, Rajput A, Thiagalingam S, Lutterbaugh JD, Neumann A, Brattain MG, Chang J, Kim SJ, et al. (1999). Mutational inactivation of transforming growth factor beta receptor type II in microsatellite stable colon cancers. *Cancer research* **59**, 320-324.

[153] Goggins M, Shekher M, Turnacioglu K, Yeo CJ, Hruban RH, and Kern SE (1998). Genetic alterations of the transforming growth factor beta receptor genes in pancreatic and biliary adenocarcinomas. *Cancer research* **58**, 5329-5332.

[154] Ohgushi M, Kuroki S, Fukamachi H, O'Reilly LA, Kuida K, Strasser A, and Yonehara S (2005). Transforming growth factor beta-dependent sequential activation of Smad, Bim, and caspase-9 mediates physiological apoptosis in gastric epithelial cells. *Molecular and cellular biology* **25**, 10017-10028.

[155] Kang Y, Chen CR, and Massague J (2003). A self-enabling TGFbeta response coupled to stress signaling: Smad engages stress response factor ATF3 for Id1 repression in epithelial cells. *Molecular cell* **11**, 915-926.

[156] Buijs JT, Stayrook KR, and Guise TA (2011). TGF-beta in the Bone Microenvironment: Role in Breast Cancer Metastases. *Cancer microenvironment : official journal of the International Cancer Microenvironment Society* **4**, 261-281.

[157] Kominsky SL, Doucet M, Brady K, and Weber KL (2007). TGF-beta promotes the establishment of renal cell carcinoma bone metastasis. *Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research* **22**, 37-44.

[158] Halder SK, Rachakonda G, Deane NG, and Datta PK (2008). Smad7 induces hepatic metastasis in colorectal cancer. *British journal of cancer* **99**, 957-965.

[159] Kang Y and Massague J (2004). Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions: twist in development and metastasis. *Cell* **118**, 277-279.

[160] Derynck R, Akhurst RJ, and Balmain A (2001). TGF-beta signaling in tumor suppression and cancer progression. *Nature genetics* **29**, 117-129.

[161] van Meeteren LA, Goumans MJ, and ten Dijke P (2011). TGF-beta receptor signaling pathways in angiogenesis; emerging targets for anti-angiogenesis therapy. *Current pharmaceutical biotechnology* **12**, 2108-2120.

[162] Roberts AB and Wakefield LM (2003). The two faces of transforming growth factor beta in carcinogenesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **100**, 8621-8623.

[163] Cohen PS, Letterio JJ, Gaetano C, Chan J, Matsumoto K, Sporn MB, and Thiele CJ (1995). Induction of transforming growth factor beta 1 and its receptors during all-trans-retinoic acid (RA) treatment of RA-responsive human neuroblastoma cell lines. *Cancer research* **55**, 2380-2386.

[164] Gomez-Santos C, Ambrosio S, Ventura F, Ferrer I, and Reiriz J (2002). TGF-beta1 increases tyrosine hydroxylase expression by a mechanism blocked by BMP-2 in human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells. *Brain research* **958**, 152-160.

[165] Turco A, Scarpa S, Coppa A, Baccheschi G, Palumbo C, Leonetti C, Zupi G, and Colletta G (2000). Increased TGFbeta type II receptor expression suppresses the malignant phenotype and induces differentiation of human neuroblastoma cells. *Experimental cell research* **255**, 77-85.

[166] Scarpa S, Coppa A, Ragano-Caracciolo M, Mincione G, Giuffrida A, Modesti A, and Colletta G (1996). Transforming growth factor beta regulates differentiation and proliferation of human neuroblastoma. *Experimental cell research* **229**, 147-154.

[167] Mestdagh P, Bostrom AK, Impens F, Fredlund E, Van Peer G, De Antonellis P, von Stedingk K, Ghesquiere B, Schulte S, Dews M, et al. (2010). The miR-17-92 microRNA cluster regulates multiple components of the TGF-beta pathway in neuroblastoma. *Molecular cell* **40**, 762-773.

[168] Lynch J, Fay J, Meehan M, Bryan K, Watters KM, Murphy DM, and Stallings RL (2012). MiRNA-335 suppresses neuroblastoma cell invasiveness by direct targeting of multiple genes from the non-canonical TGF-beta signalling pathway. *Carcinogenesis* **33**, 976-985.

[169] Gerhardt H, Golding M, Fruttiger M, Ruhrberg C, Lundkvist A, Abramsson A, Jeltsch M, Mitchell C, Alitalo K, Shima D, et al. (2003). VEGF guides angiogenic sprouting utilizing endothelial tip cell filopodia. *The Journal of cell biology* **161**, 1163-1177.

[170] Iruela-Arispe ML and Davis GE (2009). Cellular and molecular mechanisms of vascular lumen formation. *Developmental cell* **16**, 222-231.

[171] Davis GE, Koh W, and Stratman AN (2007). Mechanisms controlling human endothelial lumen formation and tube assembly in three-dimensional extracellular matrices. *Birth defects research. Part C, Embryo today : reviews* **81**, 270-285.

[172] Kamei M, Saunders WB, Bayless KJ, Dye L, Davis GE, and Weinstein BM (2006). Endothelial tubes assemble from intracellular vacuoles in vivo. *Nature* **442**, 453-456.

[173] Jin SW, Beis D, Mitchell T, Chen JN, and Stainier DY (2005). Cellular and molecular analyses of vascular tube and lumen formation in zebrafish. *Development* **132**, 5199-5209.

[174] Wang Y, Kaiser MS, Larson JD, Nasevicius A, Clark KJ, Wadman SA, Roberg-Perez SE, Ekker SC, Hackett PB, McGrail M, et al. (2010). Moesin1 and Ve-cadherin are required in endothelial cells during in vivo tubulogenesis. *Development* **137**, 3119-3128.

[175] Tung JJ, Tattersall IW, and Kitajewski J (2012). Tips, stalks, tubes: notchmediated cell fate determination and mechanisms of tubulogenesis during angiogenesis. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine* **2**, a006601.

[176] Gerber HP, Condorelli F, Park J, and Ferrara N (1997). Differential transcriptional regulation of the two vascular endothelial growth factor receptor genes. Flt-1, but not Flk-1/KDR, is up-regulated by hypoxia. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **272**, 23659-23667.

[177] Morita M, Ohneda O, Yamashita T, Takahashi S, Suzuki N, Nakajima O, Kawauchi S, Ema M, Shibahara S, Udono T, et al. (2003). HLF/HIF-2alpha is a key factor in retinopathy of prematurity in association with erythropoietin. *The EMBO journal* **22**, 1134-1146.

[178] Gustafsson MV, Zheng X, Pereira T, Gradin K, Jin S, Lundkvist J, Ruas JL, Poellinger L, Lendahl U, and Bondesson M (2005). Hypoxia requires notch signaling to maintain the undifferentiated cell state. *Developmental cell* **9**, 617-628.

[179] Pietras A, von Stedingk K, Lindgren D, Pahlman S, and Axelson H (2011). JAG2 induction in hypoxic tumor cells alters Notch signaling and enhances endothelial cell tube formation. *Molecular cancer research : MCR* **9**, 626-636.

[180] Coleman ML, McDonough MA, Hewitson KS, Coles C, Mecinovic J, Edelmann M, Cook KM, Cockman ME, Lancaster DE, Kessler BM, et al. (2007). Asparaginyl hydroxylation of the Notch ankyrin repeat domain by factor inhibiting hypoxia-inducible factor. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **282**, 24027-24038.

[181] Zheng X, Linke S, Dias JM, Gradin K, Wallis TP, Hamilton BR, Gustafsson M, Ruas JL, Wilkins S, Bilton RL, et al. (2008). Interaction with factor inhibiting HIF-1 defines an additional mode of cross-coupling between the Notch and hypoxia signaling pathways. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **105**, 3368-3373.

[182] Diez H, Fischer A, Winkler A, Hu CJ, Hatzopoulos AK, Breier G, and Gessler M (2007). Hypoxia-mediated activation of Dll4-Notch-Hey2 signaling in endothelial progenitor cells and adoption of arterial cell fate. *Experimental cell research* **313**, 1-9.

[183] Sahlgren C, Gustafsson MV, Jin S, Poellinger L, and Lendahl U (2008). Notch signaling mediates hypoxia-induced tumor cell migration and invasion. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **105**, 6392-6397.

[184] Heikkinen PT, Nummela M, Jokilehto T, Grenman R, Kahari VM, and Jaakkola PM (2010). Hypoxic conversion of SMAD7 function from an inhibitor into a promoter of cell invasion. *Cancer research* **70**, 5984-5993.

[185] Jakobsson L, Franco CA, Bentley K, Collins RT, Ponsioen B, Aspalter IM, Rosewell I, Busse M, Thurston G, Medvinsky A, et al. (2010). Endothelial cells

dynamically compete for the tip cell position during angiogenic sprouting. *Nature cell biology* **12**, 943-953.

[186] Phng LK and Gerhardt H (2009). Angiogenesis: a team effort coordinated by notch. *Developmental cell* **16**, 196-208.

[187] Noguera-Troise I, Daly C, Papadopoulos NJ, Coetzee S, Boland P, Gale NW, Lin HC, Yancopoulos GD, and Thurston G (2006). Blockade of Dll4 inhibits tumour growth by promoting non-productive angiogenesis. *Nature* **444**, 1032-1037.

[188] Ridgway J, Zhang G, Wu Y, Stawicki S, Liang WC, Chanthery Y, Kowalski J, Watts RJ, Callahan C, Kasman I, et al. (2006). Inhibition of Dll4 signalling inhibits tumour growth by deregulating angiogenesis. *Nature* **444**, 1083-1087.

[189] Kalen M, Heikura T, Karvinen H, Nitzsche A, Weber H, Esser N, Yla-Herttuala S, and Hellstrom M (2011). Gamma-secretase inhibitor treatment promotes VEGF-A-driven blood vessel growth and vascular leakage but disrupts neovascular perfusion. *PloS one* **6**, e18709.

[190] Funahashi Y, Shawber CJ, Vorontchikhina M, Sharma A, Outtz HH, and Kitajewski J (2010). Notch regulates the angiogenic response via induction of VEGFR-1. *Journal of angiogenesis research* **2**, 3.

[191] Zeng Q, Li S, Chepeha DB, Giordano TJ, Li J, Zhang H, Polverini PJ, Nor J, Kitajewski J, and Wang CY (2005). Crosstalk between tumor and endothelial cells promotes tumor angiogenesis by MAPK activation of Notch signaling. *Cancer cell* **8**, 13-23.

[192] Leunig M, Yuan F, Menger MD, Boucher Y, Goetz AE, Messmer K, and Jain RK (1992). Angiogenesis, microvascular architecture, microhemodynamics, and interstitial fluid pressure during early growth of human adenocarcinoma LS174T in SCID mice. *Cancer research* **52**, 6553-6560.

[193] Jain RK, Duda DG, Clark JW, and Loeffler JS (2006). Lessons from phase III clinical trials on anti-VEGF therapy for cancer. *Nature clinical practice. Oncology* **3**, 24-40.

[194] Bergers G and Hanahan D (2008). Modes of resistance to anti-angiogenic therapy. *Nature reviews. Cancer* **8**, 592-603.

[195] Ebos JM, Lee CR, Cruz-Munoz W, Bjarnason GA, Christensen JG, and Kerbel RS (2009). Accelerated metastasis after short-term treatment with a potent inhibitor of tumor angiogenesis. *Cancer cell* **15**, 232-239.

[196] Paez-Ribes M, Allen E, Hudock J, Takeda T, Okuyama H, Vinals F, Inoue M, Bergers G, Hanahan D, and Casanovas O (2009). Antiangiogenic therapy elicits malignant progression of tumors to increased local invasion and distant metastasis. *Cancer cell* **15**, 220-231.

[197] Sennino B, Ishiguro-Oonuma T, Schriver BJ, Christensen JG, and McDonald DM (2013). Inhibition of c-Met reduces lymphatic metastasis in RIP-Tag2 transgenic mice. *Cancer research* **73**, 3692-3703.

[198] Sennino B, Ishiguro-Oonuma T, Wei Y, Naylor RM, Williamson CW, Bhagwandin V, Tabruyn SP, You WK, Chapman HA, Christensen JG, et al. (2012). Suppression of tumor invasion and metastasis by concurrent inhibition of c-Met and VEGF signaling in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. *Cancer discovery* **2**, 270-287.

[199] Ryeom SW (2011). The cautionary tale of side effects of chronic Notch1 inhibition. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **121**, 508-509.

[200] Wu Y, Cain-Hom C, Choy L, Hagenbeek TJ, de Leon GP, Chen Y, Finkle D, Venook R, Wu X, Ridgway J, et al. (2010). Therapeutic antibody targeting of individual Notch receptors. *Nature* **464**, 1052-1057.

[201] Mannoor K, Liao J, and Jiang F (2012). Small nucleolar RNAs in cancer. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* **1826**, 121-128.

[202] Taft RJ, Pang KC, Mercer TR, Dinger M, and Mattick JS (2010). Non-coding RNAs: regulators of disease. *The Journal of pathology* **220**, 126-139.

[203] Kim VN (2005). MicroRNA biogenesis: coordinated cropping and dicing. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology* **6**, 376-385.

[204] Bartel DP (2004). MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. *Cell* **116**, 281-297.

[205] Kim VN, Han J, and Siomi MC (2009). Biogenesis of small RNAs in animals. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology* **10**, 126-139.

[206] Friedman RC, Farh KK, Burge CB, and Bartel DP (2009). Most mammalian mRNAs are conserved targets of microRNAs. *Genome research* **19**, 92-105.

[207] Xiao C, Srinivasan L, Calado DP, Patterson HC, Zhang B, Wang J, Henderson JM, Kutok JL, and Rajewsky K (2008). Lymphoproliferative disease and autoimmunity in mice with increased miR-17-92 expression in lymphocytes. *Nature immunology* **9**, 405-414.

[208] Bu P, Chen KY, Chen JH, Wang L, Walters J, Shin YJ, Goerger JP, Sun J, Witherspoon M, Rakhilin N, et al. (2013). A microRNA miR-34a-regulated bimodal switch targets notch in colon cancer stem cells. *Cell stem cell* **12**, 602-615.

[209] Karreth FA, Tay Y, Perna D, Ala U, Tan SM, Rust AG, DeNicola G, Webster KA, Weiss D, Perez-Mancera PA, et al. (2011). In vivo identification of tumor- suppressive PTEN ceRNAs in an oncogenic BRAF-induced mouse model of melanoma. *Cell* **147**, 382-395.

[210] Helwak A, Kudla G, Dudnakova T, and Tollervey D (2013). Mapping the human miRNA interactome by CLASH reveals frequent noncanonical binding. *Cell* **153**, 654-665.

[211] Calin GA, Dumitru CD, Shimizu M, Bichi R, Zupo S, Noch E, Aldler H, Rattan S, Keating M, Rai K, et al. (2002). Frequent deletions and down-regulation of micro- RNA genes miR15 and miR16 at 13q14 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **99**, 15524-15529.

[212] Calin GA, Ferracin M, Cimmino A, Di Leva G, Shimizu M, Wojcik SE, Iorio MV, Visone R, Sever NI, Fabbri M, et al. (2005). A MicroRNA signature associated with prognosis and progression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *The New England journal of medicine* **353**, 1793-1801.

[213] Bonci D, Coppola V, Musumeci M, Addario A, Giuffrida R, Memeo L, D'Urso L, Pagliuca A, Biffoni M, Labbaye C, et al. (2008). The miR-15a-miR-16-1 cluster controls prostate cancer by targeting multiple oncogenic activities. *Nature medicine* **14**, 1271-1277.

[214] Cimmino A, Calin GA, Fabbri M, Iorio MV, Ferracin M, Shimizu M, Wojcik SE, Aqeilan RI, Zupo S, Dono M, et al. (2005). miR-15 and miR-16 induce apoptosis by targeting BCL2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **102**, 13944-13949.

[215] Spizzo R, Nicoloso MS, Croce CM, and Calin GA (2009). SnapShot: MicroRNAs in Cancer. *Cell* **137**, 586-586 e581.

[216] Johnson SM, Grosshans H, Shingara J, Byrom M, Jarvis R, Cheng A, Labourier E, Reinert KL, Brown D, and Slack FJ (2005). RAS is regulated by the let-7 microRNA family. *Cell* **120**, 635-647.

[217] He L, He X, Lim LP, de Stanchina E, Xuan Z, Liang Y, Xue W, Zender L, Magnus J, Ridzon D, et al. (2007). A microRNA component of the p53 tumour suppressor network. *Nature* **447**, 1130-1134.

[218] Welch C, Chen Y, and Stallings RL (2007). MicroRNA-34a functions as a potential tumor suppressor by inducing apoptosis in neuroblastoma cells. *Oncogene* **26**, 5017-5022.

[219] Costinean S, Zanesi N, Pekarsky Y, Tili E, Volinia S, Heerema N, and Croce CM (2006). Pre-B cell proliferation and lymphoblastic leukemia/high-grade lymphoma in E(mu)-miR155 transgenic mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **103**, 7024-7029.

[220] Olive V, Jiang I, and He L (2010). mir-17-92, a cluster of miRNAs in the midst of the cancer network. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology* **42**, 1348-1354.

[221] He L, Thomson JM, Hemann MT, Hernando-Monge E, Mu D, Goodson S, Powers S, Cordon-Cardo C, Lowe SW, Hannon GJ, et al. (2005). A microRNA polycistron as a potential human oncogene. *Nature* **435**, 828-833.

[222] Volinia S, Calin GA, Liu CG, Ambs S, Cimmino A, Petrocca F, Visone R, Iorio M, Roldo C, Ferracin M, et al. (2006). A microRNA expression signature of human solid tumors defines cancer gene targets. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **103**, 2257-2261.

[223] O'Donnell KA, Wentzel EA, Zeller KI, Dang CV, and Mendell JT (2005). c-Myc-regulated microRNAs modulate E2F1 expression. *Nature* **435**, 839-843.

[224] Schulte JH, Horn S, Otto T, Samans B, Heukamp LC, Eilers UC, Krause M, Astrahantseff K, Klein-Hitpass L, Buettner R, et al. (2008). MYCN regulates oncogenic MicroRNAs in neuroblastoma. *International journal of cancer. Journal international du cancer* **122**, 699-704.

[225] Porkka KP, Pfeiffer MJ, Waltering KK, Vessella RL, Tammela TL, and Visakorpi T (2007). MicroRNA expression profiling in prostate cancer. *Cancer research* **67**, 6130-6135.

[226] Yanaihara N, Caplen N, Bowman E, Seike M, Kumamoto K, Yi M, Stephens RM, Okamoto A, Yokota J, Tanaka T, et al. (2006). Unique microRNA molecular profiles in lung cancer diagnosis and prognosis. *Cancer cell* **9**, 189-198.

[227] Schulte JH, Schowe B, Mestdagh P, Kaderali L, Kalaghatgi P, Schlierf S, Vermeulen J, Brockmeyer B, Pajtler K, Thor T, et al. (2010). Accurate prediction of neuroblastoma outcome based on miRNA expression profiles. *International journal of cancer. Journal international du cancer* **127**, 2374-2385.

[228] De Preter K, Mestdagh P, Vermeulen J, Zeka F, Naranjo A, Bray I, Castel V, Chen C, Drozynska E, Eggert A, et al. (2011). miRNA expression profiling enables risk stratification in archived and fresh neuroblastoma tumor samples. *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research* 17, 7684-7692.

[229] Barker EV, Cervigne NK, Reis PP, Goswami RS, Xu W, Weinreb I, Irish JC, and Kamel-Reid S (2009). microRNA evaluation of unknown primary lesions in the head and neck. *Molecular cancer* **8**, 127.

[230] Liu R, Zhang C, Hu Z, Li G, Wang C, Yang C, Huang D, Chen X, Zhang H, Zhuang R, et al. (2011). A five-microRNA signature identified from genome-wide serum microRNA expression profiling serves as a fingerprint for gastric cancer diagnosis. *European journal of cancer* **47**, 784-791.

[231] Moltzahn F, Olshen AB, Baehner L, Peek A, Fong L, Stoppler H, Simko J, Hilton JF, Carroll P, and Blelloch R (2011). Microfluidic-based multiplex qRT-PCR identifies diagnostic and prognostic microRNA signatures in the sera of prostate cancer patients. *Cancer research* **71**, 550-560.

[232] Gardner PP, Bateman A, and Poole AM (2010). SnoPatrol: how many snoRNA genes are there? *Journal of biology* **9**, 4.

[233] Kiss T, Fayet-Lebaron E, and Jady BE (2010). Box H/ACA small ribonucleoproteins. *Molecular cell* **37**, 597-606.

[234] Grozdanov PN, Roy S, Kittur N, and Meier UT (2009). SHQ1 is required prior to NAF1 for assembly of H/ACA small nucleolar and telomerase RNPs. *RNA* **15**, 1188-1197.

[235] Walbott H, Machado-Pinilla R, Liger D, Blaud M, Rety S, Grozdanov PN, Godin K, van Tilbeurgh H, Varani G, Meier UT, et al. (2011). The H/ACA RNP assembly factor SHQ1 functions as an RNA mimic. *Genes & development* **25**, 2398-2408.

[236] Hamma T and Ferre-D'Amare AR (2010). The box H/ACA ribonucleoprotein complex: interplay of RNA and protein structures in post-transcriptional RNA modification. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **285**, 805-809.

[237] Dong XY, Rodriguez C, Guo P, Sun X, Talbot JT, Zhou W, Petros J, Li Q, Vessella RL, Kibel AS, et al. (2008). SnoRNA U50 is a candidate tumorsuppressor gene at 6q14.3 with a mutation associated with clinically significant prostate cancer. *Human molecular genetics* **17**, 1031-1042.

[238] Dong XY, Guo P, Boyd J, Sun X, Li Q, Zhou W, and Dong JT (2009). Implication of snoRNA U50 in human breast cancer. *Journal of genetics and genomics* = *Yi chuan xue bao* **36**, 447-454.

[239] Mourtada-Maarabouni M, Pickard MR, Hedge VL, Farzaneh F, and Williams GT (2009). GAS5, a non-protein-coding RNA, controls apoptosis and is downregulated in breast cancer. *Oncogene* **28**, 195-208.

[240] Nakamura Y, Takahashi N, Kakegawa E, Yoshida K, Ito Y, Kayano H, Niitsu N, Jinnai I, and Bessho M (2008). The GAS5 (growth arrest-specific transcript 5) gene fuses to BCL6 as a result of t(1;3)(q25;q27) in a patient with B-cell lymphoma. *Cancer genetics and cytogenetics* **182**, 144-149.

[241] Gee HE, Buffa FM, Camps C, Ramachandran A, Leek R, Taylor M, Patil M, Sheldon H, Betts G, Homer J, et al. (2011). The small-nucleolar RNAs commonly used for microRNA normalisation correlate with tumour pathology and prognosis. *British journal of cancer* **104**, 1168-1177.

[242] Mei YP, Liao JP, Shen J, Yu L, Liu BL, Liu L, Li RY, Ji L, Dorsey SG, Jiang ZR, et al. (2012). Small nucleolar RNA 42 acts as an oncogene in lung tumorigenesis. *Oncogene* **31**, 2794-2804.

[243] Su H, Xu T, Ganapathy S, Shadfan M, Long M, Huang TH, Thompson I, and Yuan ZM (2013). Elevated snoRNA biogenesis is essential in breast cancer. *Oncogene*.

[244] Savage SA and Bertuch AA (2010). The genetics and clinical manifestations of telomere biology disorders. *Genetics in medicine : official journal of the American College of Medical Genetics* **12**, 753-764.

[245] Blackburn EH (1994). Telomeres: no end in sight. *Cell* **77**, 621-623.

[246] Blackburn EH (1984). The molecular structure of centromeres and telomeres. *Annual review of biochemistry* **53**, 163-194.

[247] Palm W and de Lange T (2008). How shelterin protects mammalian telomeres. *Annual review of genetics* **42**, 301-334.

[248] Ulaner GA (2004). Telomere maintenance in clinical medicine. *The American journal of medicine* **117**, 262-269.

[249] Lundberg G, Sehic D, Lansberg JK, Ora I, Frigyesi A, Castel V, Navarro S, Piqueras M, Martinsson T, Noguera R, et al. (2011). Alternative lengthening of telomeres-An enhanced chromosomal instability in aggressive non-MYCN amplified and telomere elongated neuroblastomas. *Genes, chromosomes & cancer*.

[250] Onitake Y, Hiyama E, Kamei N, Yamaoka H, Sueda T, and Hiyama K (2009). Telomere biology in neuroblastoma: telomere binding proteins and alternative strengthening of telomeres. *Journal of pediatric surgery* **44**, 2258-2266.

[251] Podlevsky JD and Chen JJ (2012). It all comes together at the ends: telomerase structure, function, and biogenesis. *Mutation research* **730**, 3-11.

[252] Venteicher AS, Meng Z, Mason PJ, Veenstra TD, and Artandi SE (2008). Identification of ATPases pontin and reptin as telomerase components essential for holoenzyme assembly. *Cell* **132**, 945-957.

[253] Alter BP, Giri N, Savage SA, and Rosenberg PS (2009). Cancer in dyskeratosis congenita. *Blood* **113**, 6549-6557.

[254] Ding Z, Wu CJ, Jaskelioff M, Ivanova E, Kost-Alimova M, Protopopov A, Chu GC, Wang G, Lu X, Labrot ES, et al. (2012). Telomerase reactivation following telomere dysfunction yields murine prostate tumors with bone metastases. *Cell* **148**, 896-907.

[255] Hu J, Hwang SS, Liesa M, Gan B, Sahin E, Jaskelioff M, Ding Z, Ying H, Boutin AT, Zhang H, et al. (2012). Antitelomerase therapy provokes ALT and mitochondrial adaptive mechanisms in cancer. *Cell* **148**, 651-663.

[256] Hiyama E, Hiyama K, Yokoyama T, Ichikawa T, and Matsuura Y (1992). Length of telomeric repeats in neuroblastoma: correlation with prognosis and other biological characteristics. *Japanese journal of cancer research : Gann* **83**, 159-164.

[257] Hiyama E, Hiyama K, Yokoyama T, Matsuura Y, Piatyszek MA, and Shay JW (1995). Correlating telomerase activity levels with human neuroblastoma outcomes. *Nature medicine* **1**, 249-255.

[258] Coco S, Theissen J, Scaruffi P, Stigliani S, Moretti S, Oberthuer A, Valdora F, Fischer M, Gallo F, Hero B, et al. (2012). Age-dependent accumulation of genomic aberrations and deregulation of cell cycle and telomerase genes in metastatic neuroblastoma. *International journal of cancer. Journal international du cancer* **131**, 1591-1600.

[259] Greenberg RA, O'Hagan RC, Deng H, Xiao Q, Hann SR, Adams RR, Lichtsteiner S, Chin L, Morin GB, and DePinho RA (1999). Telomerase reverse transcriptase gene is a direct target of c-Myc but is not functionally equivalent in cellular transformation. *Oncogene* **18**, 1219-1226.

[260] Wu KJ, Grandori C, Amacker M, Simon-Vermot N, Polack A, Lingner J, and Dalla-Favera R (1999). Direct activation of TERT transcription by c-MYC. *Nature genetics* **21**, 220-224.

[261] Xu D, Popov N, Hou M, Wang Q, Bjorkholm M, Gruber A, Menkel AR, and Henriksson M (2001). Switch from Myc/Max to Mad1/Max binding and decrease in histone acetylation at the telomerase reverse transcriptase promoter during differentiation of HL60 cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **98**, 3826-3831.

[262] Isobe K, Yashiro T, Omura S, Kaneko M, Kaneko S, Kamma H, Tatsuno I, Takekoshi K, Kawakami Y, and Nakai T (2004). Expression of the human telomerase reverse transcriptase in pheochromocytoma and neuroblastoma tissues. *Endocrine journal* **51**, 47-52.

[263] Wang SL, Chen WT, Li SH, Li SW, Yang SF, and Chai CY (2007). Expression of human telomerase reverse transcriptase and cyclin-D1 in olfactory neuroblastoma. *APMIS* : acta pathologica, microbiologica, et immunologica Scandinavica **115**, 17-21.

[264] Gisselsson D (2005). Mitotic instability in cancer: is there method in the madness? *Cell cycle* **4**, 1007-1010.

[265] Cerone MA, Londono-Vallejo JA, and Bacchetti S (2001). Telomere maintenance by telomerase and by recombination can coexist in human cells. *Human molecular genetics* **10**, 1945-1952.

[266] Guiducci C, Cerone MA, and Bacchetti S (2001). Expression of mutant telomerase in immortal telomerase-negative human cells results in cell cycle deregulation, nuclear and chromosomal abnormalities and rapid loss of viability. *Oncogene* **20**, 714-725.

[267] Hakin-Smith V, Jellinek DA, Levy D, Carroll T, Teo M, Timperley WR, McKay MJ, Reddel RR, and Royds JA (2003). Alternative lengthening of telomeres and survival in patients with glioblastoma multiforme. *Lancet* **361**, 836-838.

[268] Cornero A, Acquaviva M, Fardin P, Versteeg R, Schramm A, Eva A, Bosco MC, Blengio F, Barzaghi S, and Varesio L (2012). Design of a multisignature ensemble classifier predicting neuroblastoma patients' outcome. *BMC bioinformatics* **13 Suppl 4**, S13.

[269] Mestdagh P, Fredlund E, Pattyn F, Schulte JH, Muth D, Vermeulen J, Kumps C, Schlierf S, De Preter K, Van Roy N, et al. (2010). MYCN/c-MYC-induced microRNAs repress coding gene networks associated with poor outcome in MYCN/c-MYC-activated tumors. *Oncogene* **29**, 1394-1404.

[270] Fontana L, Fiori ME, Albini S, Cifaldi L, Giovinazzi S, Forloni M, Boldrini R, Donfrancesco A, Federici V, Giacomini P, et al. (2008). Antagomir-17-5p abolishes the growth of therapy-resistant neuroblastoma through p21 and BIM. *PloS one* **3**, e2236.

[271] Beatus P, Lundkvist J, Oberg C, and Lendahl U (1999). The notch 3 intracellular domain represses notch 1-mediated activation through Hairy/Enhancer of split (HES) promoters. *Development* **126**, 3925-3935.

[272] Ohashi S, Natsuizaka M, Yashiro-Ohtani Y, Kalman RA, Nakagawa M, Wu L, Klein-Szanto AJ, Herlyn M, Diehl JA, Katz JP, et al. (2010). NOTCH1 and NOTCH3 coordinate esophageal squamous differentiation through a CSL-dependent transcriptional network. *Gastroenterology* **139**, 2113-2123.